
2/10/26 Board Agenda  

   
  

 Board Agenda  
Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, February 10, 2026 
Camrosa Board Room 

7385 Santa Rosa Rd., Camarillo, CA 93012 
10:00 A.M. 

 
Call to Order 
 
Public Comments 

Consent Agenda  

1. Approve Minutes of the Regular Meeting of January 27, 2026 

2. **Approve Vendor Payments 

Objective: Approve the payments as presented by Staff. 

Action Required: Approve accounts payable in the amount of $842,168.57. 

3. **Purchase Order Ratification for Santa Rosa Well 10 Rehabilitation 

Objective: Ratify the actions taken during pipeline improvements at Santa Rosa Well 10 (SR 10) 
as part of the rehabilitation project. 

Action Required: It is recommended that the Board of Directors: 

1) Ratify the purchase order to Sam Hill & Sons, Inc., in the amount of $42,754.44, for the 
pipeline improvements at Santa Rosa Well 10. 

2) Ratify the purchase order to Famcon Pipe & Supply, in the amount of $26,655.51, for piping 
materials needed at Santa Rosa Well 10. 

 

 

Matters appearing on the Consent Agenda are expected to be non-controversial and will be acted upon by 
the Board at one time, without discussion, unless a member of Board or the Staff requests an opportunity to 
address any given item.  Items removed from the Consent Agenda will be discussed at the beginning of the 
Primary Items.  Approval by the Board of Consent Items means that the recommendation of the Staff is 
approved along with the terms and conditions described in the Board Memorandum. 

At this time, the public may address the Board on any item not appearing on the agenda which is subject to 
the jurisdiction of the Board. Public comment on an item appearing on the agenda may be made prior to the 
Boards consideration of that item. Persons wishing to address the Board should fill out a white comment 
card and submit it to the Board President prior to the meeting.  All comments are subject to a 5-minute time 
limit. 



2/10/26 Board Agenda  

Primary Agenda 

4. Employee Spotlight 

Objective: Spotlight a Camrosa employee. 

Action Required: No action is necessary; for discussion only. 

5. **Fiscal Year 2025-2026 2nd Quarter Budget Status Report 

Objective: Receive a report from staff regarding the Fiscal Year (FY) 2025-26 2nd Quarter budget 
report and reserves. 

Action Required: No action is necessary; for information and discussion only. 

6. Truck Purchase for CWRF Solids Dewatering Press Facility 

Objective: Purchase a truck to move the solids trailers at the Camrosa Wastewater Reclamation 
Facility (CWRF) Solids Dewatering Press Facility. 

Action Required: It is recommended that the Board of Directors: 

1) Appropriate funds from the Wastewater Capital Improvement Fund, in the amount of 
$80,000.00, and establish a fixed asset for the purchase of a truck for the Solids Dewatering 
Press Facility at CWRF. 

2) Authorize the General Manager to purchase a used truck at fair market value not to exceed 
$80,000.00, including taxes, license, and registration. 

7. **Water Meter Replacement 

Objective: Award a contract for installation of customer water meters to replace existing aging 
water meters. 

Action Required: Authorize the General Manager to issue a purchase order with DB Utility, LLC., 
in an amount not to exceed $299,565.00, for installation of 1,540 ¾-inch meters and 679 1-inch 
meters. 

8. **Cross-Connection Control Plan (CCCP) Adoption 

Objective: Adopt the Camrosa Water District Cross-Connection Control Plan (CCCP) as approved 
by the California State Water Resources Control Board, Division of Drinking Water. 

Action Required: Adopt Resolution 26-01 adopting the Camrosa Water District Cross-
Connection Control Plan (CCCP) as approved by the California State Water Resources Control 
Board, Division of Drinking Water. 

9. **Update Ordinance 40 

Objective: Discuss updating provisions in Ordinance 40, Rules and Regulations Governing the 
Provision of Water and Sanitary Services. 

Action Required: No action is necessary; for information and discussion only. 

10. **Master Plan Update, February 2026 

Objective: Provide the Board with a report/update from the Master Plan Ad hoc Committee on 
the Master Plan progress. 

Action Required: No action is necessary; for information and discussion only. 

 
Comments by General Manager; Comments by Directors 



2/10/26 Board Agenda  

Closed Session 

11. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION (Gov. Code, §54956.9(d)(1)) 
NAME OF CASE: OPV Coalition et al v. Camrosa Water District, Santa Barbara County Superior 
Court Case No. VENCI00555357. 

Open Session 

12. Announcement of Reportable Action Taken During the Closed Session 
 
Adjournment 

 

Upon request, this agenda will be made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with 
disabilities, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Any person with a 
disability who requires a modification or accommodation to participate in a meeting should direct such 
request to Donnie Alexander at (805) 482-8514 at least 48 hours before the meeting, if possible. 

Discussions of Closed Session Agenda items are closed to the public. The President will announce when the 
Board is going into closed session. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board of 
Directors 

Agenda Packet

February 10, 2026 



Agenda Item #1 

      

              Board Minutes   
Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, January 27, 2026 
Camrosa Board Room 

10:00 A.M. 

   Call to Order The meeting was convened at 10:00 A.M.  

  Present: Eugene F. West, President 
 Jeff C. Brown, Vice President 
 Timothy H. Hoag, Director   
 Andrew F. Nelson, Director 

 Absent: Terry L. Foreman, Director  

        Staff: Norman Huff, General Manager 
  Brad Milner, Assistant General Manager 
 Jozi Zabarsky, Customer Service Manager 
 Kevin Wahl, Director of Operations 
 Chris Patascil, Superintendent 
 Johnny Munsill, Assistant IT Manager 
 Kim Nakamura, Finance Manager 
 Keith Lemieux, Legal Counsel  

Public Comments 

None 

Consent Agenda 

1. Approved Minutes of the Regular Meeting of January 6, 2026 

2. Approved Vendor Payments 

3. Customer and Administrative Services Quarterly Report 

4. Water Quality Q2 FY 2025-26 Report 

5. Repair 350hp VFD B at Lynnwood Well 

6. CWRF Influent Pump CIP 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda: Hoag  Second: Brown 
Motion carried unanimously by those present. 

Primary Agenda 

7. Employee Spotlight 

The Board was introduced to Kim Nakamura, Finance Manager. 

No action was necessary; for information only.  



Agenda Item #1 

8. Local Production Update 

The Board received a briefing on local water production through the second quarter of Fiscal 
Year 2025-26. 

No action was necessary; for information only. 
 

9. Master Plan Update, January 2026 

Staff provided the Board with a report/update from the Master Plan Ad hoc Committee on the 
Master Plan progress. 

No action was necessary; for information and discussion only. 

10. Outreach Communications Plan Update, January 2026 

Staff provided the Board with a report/update from the Outreach Ad hoc Committee on the 
Outreach Communications Plan progress. 

No action was necessary; for information and discussion only. 

Comments by General Manager 

 None 

Comments by Directors 

 Director Nelson reported meeting with the General Manager and Leisure Village Board 
President and General Manager to discuss coordination of Camrosa’s Master Plan and Leisure 
Village’s General Plan.  

Closed Session The Board cancelled the Closed Session to confidentially discuss a legal matter as 
authorized by Government Code section 54956.9. 

11. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION (Gov. Code, §54956.9(d)(1)) 
(cancelled)  
NAME OF CASE: OPV Coalition et al v. Camrosa Water District, Santa Barbara County Superior 
Court Case No. VENCI00555357. 

Open Session  

12. Announcement of Reportable Action Taken During the Closed Session (cancelled) 

Adjournment 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 10:46 A.M. 

 
 

____________________________________ ___________________________________ (ATTEST) 
Norman Huff, Secretary Eugene F. West, President 
Board of Directors Board of Directors 
Camrosa Water District Camrosa Water District   
   



Agenda Item #2 

  
 

 

    Board Memorandum 

February 10, 2026 

To: General Manager  

From: Alejandra Beard, Fiscal Associate I 

Subject:  Approve Vendor Payments 

Objective: Approve the payments as presented by Staff. 

Action Required: Approve accounts payable in the amount of $842,168.57. 

Discussion: A summary of accounts payable is provided for Board information and approval.  

 
          Payroll PR 1-2 & ME                                                            $ 133,496.77 
 
          Accounts Payable 01/21/2026-02/03/2026         $ 708,671.80 
 
          Total Disbursements                                    $ 842,168.57 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Norman Huff, General Manager 

 
 
 

 
DISBURSEMENT APPROVAL 

 

______________________________________________ 
BOARD MEMBER      DATE 
 

______________________________________________ 
BOARD MEMBER       DATE    
 

______________________________________________ 
BOARD MEMBER      DATE 



Agenda Item #2 

Camrosa Water District 

Accounts Payable Period: 

                                                12/31/2025-01/20/26 
Expense Account Description  Amount 

10302 Escrow Account-Pacific Hydro 2,650.00 
11100 AR Other  
11700 Meter Inventory  
11900 Prepaid  Insurance  
11905 Prepaid  Maintenance Ag 

 

15773 UAL Prepayment  
13400 Construction in Progress 178,721.63 

 20053 Current LTD Bond 2016 
 

20202  Invoice Cloud Fees Payable 
 

20400 Contractor’s Retention -2,650.00 
20250 Non-Potable Water Purchases 

 

23100 Refunds Payable 237.21 
 50110 Payroll FLSA Overtime-Retro 
 

50010 Water Purchases & SMP 
Charge 

 

50020 Pumping Power  292,430.45 
50100 Federal Tax 941 1st QTR 

 

50013 CamSan Reclaimed Water  
50135 PERS Required UAL  
50200 Utilities 5,228.02 
50210 Communications 1,008.23 

 50220 Outside Contracts 167,042.23 
 50230 Professional Services 8,175.00 

50240 Pipeline Repairs 16,619.44 
 50250 Small Tool & Equipment 765.49 

50260 Materials & Supplies 9,900.60 
 50270 Repair Parts & Equip Maint 21,978.13 
 50280 Legal Services 
 

50290 Dues & Subscriptions 
 

50300 Conference & Travel 1,790.44 
50310 Safety & Training 

 

50330 Board Expenses   
50340 Bad Debt 

 

50350 Fees & Charges 4,774.93 
50360  Insurance Expense  

 50500 Misc Expense  
50600 Fixed Assets  

 x50700 Interest Expense   
  TOTAL $ 708,671.80 

 
  

 
  

 
  

   
 

 



2,666.88                               

8,996.00                               

92,461.66                             

1,017.72                               
810.73                                   

1,017.72                               
1,017.72                               
1,017.81                               

5,642.25                               
7,004.75                               
2,685.00                               
5,642.25                               

Expense Approval Report
By Vendor Name

Payable Dates 1/21/2026 - 2/3/2026  Post Dates 1/21/2026 - 2/3/2026

Payment NumberPost Date Vendor Name Payable Number Description (Item) Account Name Purchase Order Number

63007 02/03/2026 ACQUA CLEAR, INC. 13126 Annual Maintenance for the Labs RO System Repair parts & equipment 150.00                                        

Vendor: AIR05 - AIRGAS USA, LLC.

63008 01/30/2026 AIRGAS USA, LLC. 9168567857 Materials & Supplies - CO2 Rental Materials & supplies 159.43                                        
63008 02/03/2026 AIRGAS USA, LLC. 9168874031 CO2 Tank Rental - Conejo GAC Mat. & Supplies-Conejo GAC 50.00                                           

Vendor AIR05 - AIRGAS USA, LLC. Total: 417.21                                        

63008 02/03/2026 AIRGAS USA, LLC. 5522577487 CO2 Rental-Woodcreek Mat. & Supplies-Tierra Rejada Well 160.46                                        
63008 02/03/2026 AIRGAS USA, LLC. 5522580658 CO2 Rental Materials & supplies 47.32                                           

63010 02/02/2026 ALLCONNECTED INC 44508 Managed IT Services Outsd contracts FY26-0001

63009 01/30/2026 ALIREZA HASHEMI SABOUR 00000924 Deposit Refund Act 924 - 6334 Corte Lucinda Refunds payable 28.37

Vendor: ALL14 - ALLCONNECTED INC
63010 02/02/2026 ALLCONNECTED INC 44505 Managed IT Services Outsd contracts FY26-0001

63011 01/30/2026 BLACK & VEATCH CORP 1486868 Conejo WTP PDR Construction in progress FY25-0290-R1

1741 01/30/2026 ANDREW NELSON TrvlReimb-CASA Conf 1-13-26Travel Reimbursement-CASA Conference 1-13-26 Conf. & travel 1,790.44                                     

 Vendor ALL14 - ALLCONNECTED INC Total: 11,662.88                                   

1740 01/29/2026 American Business Bank Escrow Act-Reention 15 Retention 15 to Escrow Acct-C241 Escrow Account-Pacific Hydrotech 2,650.00                                     

Vendor: CAL25 - CALTROL, INC
63012 01/29/2026 CALTROL, INC CD99243985 Replacement Actuator - Conejo Well 3 Rep. Parts & Equip.-Conejo Well 3FY26-0086

1742 01/29/2026 CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF TAX ADMINISTRATION 4thQtr-2025 4TH QTR Use Tax 2025 Materials & supplies 270.00                                        

63012 01/29/2026 CALTROL, INC CD99243989 New Actuator - SR10 Construction in progress FY26-0089
 Vendor CAL25 - CALTROL, INC Total: 4,881.70                                     

63012 01/29/2026 CALTROL, INC CD99243986 Replacement Actuator - Conejo Well 2 Rep. Parts & Equip.-Conejo Well 2FY26-0085
63012 01/29/2026 CALTROL, INC CD99243987 Replacement Actuator - Conejo Well 8 Rep. Parts & Equip.-SR Well 8 FY26-0088
63012 01/29/2026 CALTROL, INC CD99243988 Replacement Actuator - Conejo Well 4 Rep. Parts & Equip.-Conejo Well 4FY26-0087

63013 01/30/2026 Cannon Corporation 94865 Engineering Construction Services Construction in progress FY24-0180-R2

Vendor: CAN03 - Cannon Corporation
63013 01/30/2026 Cannon Corporation 94578 Rehabilitate Power Distribution System at CWR Construction in progress FY25-0112-R1
63013 02/03/2026 Cannon Corporation 94740 Annual Contract Inspection Services Outsd contracts FY26-0014

63013 02/03/2026 Cannon Corporation 94916 Rehabilitate Power Distribution System at CWR Construction in progress FY25-0112-R1
 Vendor CAN03 - Cannon Corporation Total: 20,974.25                                   

Vendor: *CAM* - DEPOSIT ONLY-CAMROSA WTR
3525 01/26/2026 DEPOSIT ONLY-CAMROSA WTR 1-26-27-PR Transfer to Disbursements Account Transfer to disbursements-holding account 255,000.00                                 
3526 01/26/2026 DEPOSIT ONLY-CAMROSA WTR 1-27-26-AP2 Transfer to Disbursements Account Transfer to disbursements-holding account 850,000.00                                 
3527 01/26/2026 DEPOSIT ONLY-CAMROSA WTR 1-27-25-AP Transfer to Disbursements Account Transfer to disbursements-holding account 1,110,000.00                             

Vendor *CAM* - DEPOSIT ONLY-CAMROSA WTR Total: 2,215,000.00                             

1



1,350.00                               

932.46                                   

2,590.09                               

3,811.02                               
2,416.07                               
1,981.71                               

87.87                                     

7,543.18                               

63014 02/03/2026 CENTRAL COAST TANK TESTING,INC. 2689 Fuel Tank Inspection-January 2026 Outsd contracts 1,161.75                                     

Vendor: CEN02 - CENTRAL COAST TANK TESTING,INC.
63014 02/03/2026 CENTRAL COAST TANK TESTING,INC. 2688 Fuel Tank Inspection-December 2025 Outsd contracts 1,161.75                                     

63015 01/30/2026 COASTAL-PIPCO S2319054-001 SR Well 10 Rehab Construction in progress 222.67                                        

Vendor CEN02 - CENTRAL COAST TANK TESTING,INC. Total: 2,323.50                                     

Vendor: COU01 - COUNTY OF VENTURA RMA OPERATIONS

63016 01/30/2026 CONSOR NORTH AMERICA, INC. W232492CA-00-25 Design Services for Iron/MN Removal Construction in progress FY24-0084-R2

63017 01/29/2026 CORELOGIC INFORMATION SOLUTIONS, INC 30818134 Assessor's Parcel Info for Ventura Cty Outsd contracts 177.58                                        

02/02/2026 COUNTY OF VENTURA RMA OPERATIONS IN0275121 Permit-Environmental Health Insp-Pump Station 3 Fees & charges 729.14                                        

63018 02/02/2026 COUNTY OF VENTURA RMA OPERATIONS IN0275122 Permit-Environmental Health Insp-4C Hydro Fees & charges 729.14                                        

63018 02/02/2026 COUNTY OF VENTURA RMA OPERATIONS IN0275123 Permit-Environmental Health Insp-TR Well Station Fees & charges 1,129.23                                     

Vendor COU01 - COUNTY OF VENTURA RMA OPERATIONS Total: 4,774.93                                     

63018 02/02/2026 COUNTY OF VENTURA RMA OPERATIONS IN0275124 Permit-Environmental Health Insp-Highland Pump Sta Fees & charges 729.14                                        
63018 02/02/2026 COUNTY OF VENTURA RMA OPERATIONS IN0275125 Permit-Environmental Health Insp-Sewer Lift 1 Stat Fees & charges 729.14                                        
63018 02/02/2026 COUNTY OF VENTURA RMA OPERATIONS IN0275126 Permit-Environmental Health Insp-Sewer Lift 2 Stat Fees & charges 729.14                                        

63018

63020 01/30/2026 E.J. HARRISON & SONS INC 011626 Outside Contracts-Trash Removal CWRF Outsd contracts 580.45                                        Vendor: EJH01 - E.J. HARRISON & SONS INC

63021 01/30/2026 ENDRESS + HAUSER, INC 6002792803 Production Meters - Woodcreek and Lynwood Well Repair parts & Equip-Lynwood WellFY26-0208

FAMCON PIPE & SUPPLY, INC S100172412-001 SR10 - Piping Construction in progress FY26-0238

Vendor: FAM01 - FAMCON PIPE & SUPPLY, INC
63022 01/30/2026 FAMCON PIPE & SUPPLY, INC S100171557-001 SR10 - Piping Construction in progress FY26-0238

63022 01/30/2026 FAMCON PIPE & SUPPLY, INC S100172653-001 Valve Boxes Pipeline repairs FY26-0237
 Vendor FAM01 - FAMCON PIPE & SUPPLY, INC Total: 11,217.17                                   

63023 01/30/2026 FAMCON UTILITY SUPPLY, INC. S100172465-001 SR Well 10 Rehab Construction in progress 255.81                                        

63022 01/30/2026 FAMCON PIPE & SUPPLY, INC S100172155-001 Valve Boxes for Leak Repair-Verdugo Pipeline Repairs-Distrib Valves 418.28                                        
63022 01/30/2026 FAMCON PIPE & SUPPLY, INC S100172395-001 SR10 - Piping Construction in progress FY26-0238
63022 01/30/2026

63026 01/30/2026 Frontier Communications JAN26 VOIP-Land Lines Communications 1,008.23                                     

63024 01/30/2026 FERGUSON WATERWORKS #1083 0066932-4 Pipe Fittings 1" & 3/4" Materials & supplies FY26-0182

Vendor: FGW01 - FG WILCOX, INC.63025 01/30/2026 FG WILCOX, INC. 383253 Materials & Supplies- Ear Plugs Materials & supplies 226.69                                        

Vendor FRU01 - FRUIT GROWERS LAB. INC. Total: 594.00                                        

63027 01/29/2026 FRUIT GROWERS LAB. INC. 600126A Outside Lab Work for CWRF Facility Outside Contracts-CWRF 396.00                                        
63027 01/29/2026 FRUIT GROWERS LAB. INC. 600587A Outside Lab Work for GAC Plant Outside Contracts-Conejo GAC 132.00                                        

Vendor: FRU01 - FRUIT GROWERS LAB. INC.
63027 01/29/2026 FRUIT GROWERS LAB. INC. 600124A Laboratory Quality Control Outsd contracts 66.00                                           

63028 01/30/2026 GENERAL PUMP COMPANY, INC 33126 Motor Installation - Rosita Pump Station. Rep. Parts & Equip-Rosita Pump StationFY26-0235

2



1,804.06                               

3,504.58                               
5,344.45                               

6,543.62                               
6,543.62                               

1,811.65                               

53,000.00                             

66.00                                     

14,219.45                             

63029 01/30/2026 HACH COMPANY 14838577 Hach pH sensor replacement Repair parts & equipment FY26-0206

Vendor: HAC01 - HACH COMPANY
63029 01/30/2026 HACH COMPANY 14836234 Colorimeter Component Materials & supplies 696.26                                        

63030 01/30/2026 HERC RENTALS INC. 36210991-001 Pump Rental - Pond 2 Outsd contracts FY26-0233
 Vendor HER01 - HERC RENTALS INC. Total: 8,849.03                                     

 Vendor HAC01 - HACH COMPANY Total: 2,500.32                                     

Vendor: HER01 - HERC RENTALS INC.
63030 01/30/2026 HERC RENTALS INC. 36137249-002 Temporary Truck Rental Outsd contracts FY26-0236

 Vendor HYD03 - HYDROCORP LLC Total: 13,087.24                                   

Vendor: IDE01 - IDEXX LABORATORIES, INC
63032 01/30/2026 IDEXX LABORATORIES, INC 3193071374 Lab Supplies Materials & supplies 427.25                                        

Vendor: HYD03 - HYDROCORP LLC
63031 02/02/2026 HYDROCORP LLC CI-10932 Cross Connection Program - HydroCorp Solutions Outsd contracts FY25-0230-R1
63031 02/02/2026 HYDROCORP LLC CI-10932 Cross Connection Program - HydroCorp Solutions Outsd contracts FY25-0230-R1

63034 01/30/2026 Janitek Cleaning Solutions-Allstate Cleaning, Inc. 58277A Janitorial Cleaning Service Outsd contracts 1,963.50                                     

 Vendor IDE01 - IDEXX LABORATORIES, INC Total: 2,238.90                                     

63033 01/29/2026 INDUSTRIAL BOLT & SUPPLY 270505-1 Materials & Supplies - Hardware Materials & supplies 68.48                                           

63032 02/02/2026 IDEXX LABORATORIES, INC 3193071375 Microbiological Testing Supplies from IDEXX Materials & supplies FY26-0221

63036 01/29/2026 LORETTA K YOUNGMAN 00003969-B Deposit Refund Act 3969 - 5884 Terra Bella Ln Refunds payable 56.12                                           

63035 01/30/2026 JEREMY DEMPSEY 00007194 Overpayment Closed Account-269 Via Cantilena Refunds payable 46.58                                           

63037 01/29/2026 PACIFIC HYDROTECH CORP Retention-15 -C2412 Retention from Pymt15-C2412 Solids Dewatering fty Contractor's retention (2,650.00)                                    
 Vendor PAC14 - PACIFIC HYDROTECH CORP Total: 50,350.00                                   

Vendor: PAC14 - PACIFIC HYDROTECH CORP
63037 01/29/2026 PACIFIC HYDROTECH CORP Pymt15-C2412 Solids DewateringDewatering Press Change Order No. 1 Construction in progress FY24-0279-R2

63038 01/30/2026 PREMIER OPTIONS. 00001013 Deposit Refund Act 1013 - 6038 Via Montanez Refunds payable 26.12                                           

63039 02/02/2026 PRIMO BRANDS 06A8710339261 Distilled Bottled Water Outsd contracts 62.46                                           

63040 02/03/2026 PURETEC INDUSTRIAL WATER 2382856 Deionized Water Service Materials & supplies 30.14                                           

Vendor: PUR01 - PURETEC INDUSTRIAL WATER
63040 02/03/2026 PURETEC INDUSTRIAL WATER 2382855 Deionized Water Service Materials & supplies 28.93                                           

63041 01/30/2026 ROYAL INDUSTRIAL SOLUTIONS 9009-1065610 Ethernet Controller - Lynwood Well Materias & Supp-Lynwood WellFY26-0209
 Vendor ROY03 - ROYAL INDUSTRIAL SOLUTIONS Total: 472.80                                        

63042 02/03/2026 RP Barricade, Inc 67267 Traffic Control-SR10 W Outsd contracts 920.00                                        

Vendor PUR01 - PURETEC INDUSTRIAL WATER Total: 59.07                                           

Vendor: ROY03 - ROYAL INDUSTRIAL SOLUTIONS

63041 01/30/2026 ROYAL INDUSTRIAL SOLUTIONS 9009-1065425 Repair Parts-Pump Station 1-Heatsink Fan Rep. Parts & Equip.-PS 1 406.80                                        

63043 02/03/2026 SAM HILL & SONS, INC. 5730 Leak Repair - Hydrant Valve Pipeline repairs FY26-0241

3



1,072.62                               

7,627.00                               

2,081.57                               

63044 01/30/2026 SC Fuels IN0000286220 Unleaded Fuel for Fleet-Shop Materials & supplies 1,410.71                                     

63044 01/29/2026 SC Fuels IN0000283611 FUEL - Ponds Materials & supplies 1,625.47                                     

Vendor: SCF01 - SC Fuels
63044 01/29/2026 SC Fuels IN0000281705 Fleet Fuel Materials & supplies 1,602.14                                     

1746 02/03/2026 SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS Feb2026-a Usage Jan 2026-Act 170 013 9900 9 Utilities 84.45                                           
1746 02/03/2026 SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS Feb2026 Usage Jan 2026-Act 123 787 1794 1 Utilities 402.56                                        
Vendor: SCG01 - SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS

Vendor SCF01 - SC Fuels Total: 4,638.32                                     

1734 01/21/2026 SOUTHERN CALIF. EDISON JAN2026 Current Usage Charges for December 2026 Utilities-Headquarters 297,171.46                                 

Vendor: TAL01 - TALLEY COMMUNICATIONS
63045 02/03/2026 TALLEY COMMUNICATIONS 10467752 Repair Parts-DCE Repair Antenna Repair parts & equipment 896.20                                        
63045 02/03/2026 TALLEY COMMUNICATIONS 10467811 Repair Parts - DCU Repair parts & equipment FY26-0240

Vendor SCG01 - SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS Total: 487.01                                        

Vendor THO09 - THOMAS SCIENTIFIC Total: 174.64                                        

Vendor: UND01 - UNDERGROUND SERVICE ALERT OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA, INC

63047 01/30/2026 THOMAS SCIENTIFIC 3805085 Lab Supplies Materials & supplies 135.48                                        

 Vendor TAL01 - TALLEY COMMUNICATIONS Total: 1,968.82                                     

63046 01/30/2026 THOMAS SAVALA 000010561 Overpayment Closed Account-401 Castiano Refunds payable 80.02                                           

Vendor: THO09 - THOMAS SCIENTIFIC
63047 01/29/2026 THOMAS SCIENTIFIC 3801313 Lab Supplies Materials & supplies 39.16                                           

63049 01/29/2026 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 2210266577 Uniform Cleaning Service Outsd contracts 167.77                                        
63049 01/29/2026 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 2210266401 Office Cleaning Supplies - Towel-Mat Service Outsd contracts 86.85                                           

63048 02/02/2026 UNDERGROUND SERVICE ALERT OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA, INC120260228 Monthly Dig Alert Tickets Outsd contracts 452.90                                        
63048 02/02/2026 UNDERGROUND SERVICE ALERT OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA, INC25-262427 Monthly Dig Alert Tickets Outsd contracts 144.60                                        

Vendor UND01 - UNDERGROUND SERVICE ALERT OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA, INC Total: 597.50                                        

Vendor: UNI08 - UNIFIRST CORPORATION

63049 01/29/2026 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 2210270322 Office Cleaning Supplies - Towel-Mat Service Outsd contracts 80.47                                           
63049 01/29/2026 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 2210268039 Uniform Cleaning Service Outsd contracts 167.77                                        

63049 01/29/2026 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 2210268032 Office Cleaning Supplies - Towel-Mat Service Outsd contracts 80.47                                           

63049 02/03/2026 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 2210272212 Uniform Cleaning Service Outsd contracts 167.77                                        
63049 02/03/2026 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 2210272206 Office Cleaning Supplies - Towel-Mat Service Outsd contracts 80.47                                           
63049 01/29/2026 UNIFIRST CORPORATION 2210270326 Uniform Cleaning Service Outsd contracts 167.77                                        

63050 01/30/2026 UNION MATERIALS TESTING, INC 1030 Soil Compaction Testing - Sewer Hotspots Construction in progress FY26-0119

Vendor UNI08 - UNIFIRST CORPORATION Total: 999.34                                        

63052 01/30/2026 USA BLUE BOOK INV00943995 Chlorine Swifest Dispenser Materials & supplies 325.70                                        

63053 01/29/2026 W W GRAINGER, INC. 9782973904 Cups for Office and Shop Materials & supplies 306.95                                        

Vendor: WWG01 - W W GRAINGER, INC.
63053 01/30/2026 W W GRAINGER, INC. 9776347719 Motor Replacement - Diversion Screens Rep. Parts & Equip-Diversion FY26-0239
63053 01/29/2026 W W GRAINGER, INC. 9779110767 Compressor Motor - RMWTP Repair Parts & Equipment-RMWTP 608.82                                        

63053 02/02/2026 W W GRAINGER, INC. 9791106553 Small Tools - Flashlights Small tools & equipment 353.00                                        

63053 01/29/2026 W W GRAINGER, INC. 9784068729 Materials & Supplies - Chain Materials & supplies 324.51                                        
63053 01/29/2026 W W GRAINGER, INC. 9784792559 Repair Parts - Thermostat SR10 Rep. Parts & Equip.-SR Well 10 268.53                                        
63053 01/30/2026 W W GRAINGER, INC. 9789117836 Utility Knifes for Operations Small tools & equipment 412.49                                        

 Vendor WWG01 - W W GRAINGER, INC. Total: 4,355.87                                     

4



8,175.00                               

2,350.00                               

42,125.00                             
34,775.00                             
36,250.00                             

4,500.00                               

TOTAL VENDOR PAYMENTS CAMROSA $708,671.80

TOTAL PAYROLL VENDOR PAYMENTS-CAMROSA $133,496.77

Vendor PER05 - CAL PERS 457 PLAN Total: 2,823.40                                     

Vendor: PER05 - CAL PERS 457 PLAN
DFT0006369 01/22/2026 CAL PERS 457 PLAN INV0017372 Deferred Compensation Deferred comp - ee paid 2,325.00                                     
DFT0006372 01/22/2026 CAL PERS 457 PLAN INV0017376 Deferred Compensation Deferred comp - ee paid 498.40                                        

DFT0006366 01/22/2026 COLONIAL SUPPLEMENTAL INS INV0017369 Colonial Benefits Colonial benefits 201.30                                        

1735 01/22/2026 California State Disbursement Unit INV0017368 Child Support- Case ID 200000002541469 Child Support Payable 595.96                                        

Vendor: EDD01 - EMPLOYMENT DEVELOP. DEPT.
DFT0006365 01/22/2026 EMPLOYMENT DEVELOP. DEPT. INV0017366 Payroll-SIT P/R-sit 29.34                                           
DFT0006386 01/22/2026 EMPLOYMENT DEVELOP. DEPT. INV0017397 Payroll-SIT P/R-sit 6,644.40                                     

Vendor EDD01 - EMPLOYMENT DEVELOP. DEPT. Total: 6,673.74                                     
Vendor: GRE01 - Empower Annuity Ins Co of America

1738 02/02/2026 ACWA/JPIA INV0017360

DFT0006371 01/22/2026 Empower Annuity Ins Co of America INV0017374 Deferred Comp 457 Deferred comp - ee paid 150.00                                        
DFT0006370 01/22/2026 Empower Annuity Ins Co of America INV0017373 Deferred Comp 457 Deferred comp - ee paid 144.23                                        

Health, Dental & Vision Premium Medical, Dental & Vision ins. 68,798.56                                   

INV0017391 Profit Share Contribution Profit share contributions 3,714.70                                     

1737 01/22/2026 LINCOLN FINANCIAL GROUP INV0017375 Deferred Compensation Deferred comp - ee paid 3,024.07                                     

Vendor GRE01 - Empower Annuity Ins Co of America Total: 294.23                                        

DFT0006373 01/22/2026 PUBLIC EMPLOYEES INV0017378 PERS-Retirement P/R-state ret. 25,516.75                                   

1736 01/22/2026 LINCOLN FINANCIAL GROUP

Vendor: UNI10 - UNITED STATES TREASURY
DFT0006362 01/22/2026 UNITED STATES TREASURY INV0017363 FIT P/R-fit 14,799.45                                   

DFT0006375 01/22/2026 SYMETRA LIFE INS CO. INV0017380 Life Insurance Life ins. 352.50                                        

Vendor UNI10 - UNITED STATES TREASURY Total: 19,833.89                                   

DFT0006363 01/22/2026 UNITED STATES TREASURY INV0017364 Payroll-Social Security Tax P/R - ee social security 473.68                                        
DFT0006364 01/22/2026 UNITED STATES TREASURY INV0017365 Payroll- Medicare Tax P/R - ee medicare 4,560.76                                     

63006 01/22/2026 UNITED WAY OF VENTURA CO. INV0017367 Charity-United Way P/R-charity 20.00                                           

1739 02/02/2026 UNUM LIFE INSURANCE INV0017381 Ltd & Std Premium Long term & Short term dis. human resources 1,647.67                                     

FY26-0011

63055 01/30/2026 West Coast Air Conditioning IAC8058 AC Repairs CWRF Rep. Parts & Equip.-CWRF FY26-0234

Vendor: WES13 - West Coast Air Conditioning
63055 01/29/2026 West Coast Air Conditioning IAC7826 Air Conditioning Maintenance Outsd contracts 570.00                                        

63054 02/02/2026 WATER SYSTEMS CONSULTING, INC. 12071 Prepare Urban Water Management Plan Prof services FY26-0083

63056 02/03/2026 ZEBRON, INC 53255 Manhole Rehabilitation Outsd contracts FY26-0011
 Vendor ZEB01 - ZEBRON, INC Total: 113,150.00                                 

63057 02/03/2026 ZWORLD GIS, LLC 30000003 Annual Contract GIS Services Outsd contracts FY26-0015

 Vendor WES13 - West Coast Air Conditioning Total: 2,920.00                                     

Vendor: ZEB01 - ZEBRON, INC
63056 01/29/2026 ZEBRON, INC 53249 Manhole Rehabilitation Outsd contracts FY26-0011
63056 01/29/2026 ZEBRON, INC 53252 Manhole Rehabilitation Outsd contracts

5



Agenda Item #3 

 
 
 
 
 

    Board Memorandum 

 
February 10, 2026 

To: Board of Directors  

From: Kevin Wahl, Director of Operations 

Subject:  Purchase Order Ratification for Santa Rosa Well 10 Rehabilitation 

Objective: Ratify the actions taken during pipeline improvements at Santa Rosa Well 10 (SR 10) as part 
of the rehabilitation project. 

Action Required: It is recommended that the Board of Directors: 

1) Ratify the purchase order to Sam Hill & Sons, Inc., in the amount of $42,754.44, for the pipeline 
improvements at Santa Rosa Well 10. 

2) Ratify the purchase order to Famcon Pipe & Supply, in the amount of $26,655.51, for piping 
materials needed at Santa Rosa Well 10. 

Discussion: Phase 2 of the SR 10 Rehabilitation Project includes pipeline improvements needed to 
reconnect SR 10 to the Santa Rosa Pump House and the Conejo Wellfield. 

Camrosa acquired the Santa Rosa Pump House and SR 10 from Santa Rosa Mutual. The as-builts we have 
for this site are incomplete, and past work has run into many unknowns. Because of these unknowns, 
we started this piping project with Sam Hill on a time-and-materials basis. During the installation of the 
new pipeline, we ran into several obstacles, including a buried concrete pad and pipelines in the way. 
After investigation and identifying each, we were able to remove the obstacles, making way for the new 
piping. We also took this opportunity to grade and add rock to the site. 

Sam Hill & Sons, Inc. completed this work on a time-and-materials basis for $42,754.44. 

Phase 2 of the SR 10 Rehabilitation Project includes a Miscellaneous Piping/Valves line item of 
$185,000.00. 

Attachment: 

 Sam Hill & Sons, Inc. invoice 
 









































Agenda Item #4 

 
 
 
 
 

    Board Memorandum 

 
February 10, 2026 
 
To:            Board of Directors 
 
From:        Jozi Zabarsky, Customer Service Manager 
 
Subject:    Employee Spotlight 

Objective: Spotlight a Camrosa employee. 

Action Required: No action is necessary; for discussion only. 

Discussion: The primary goals of the District’s Strategic Plan are Water Supply Independence, 
Infrastructure Integrity, Prudent Financial Management, Public Trust, and Service Excellence Through 
Organization Development. In fulfilling the District’s commitment to that Plan, management staff would 
like to spotlight one of its employees whose commitment, dedication, and hard work helps the District 
advance towards those goals. 

 



   
  
 

 

  Board Memorandum 
 

Agenda Item #5 

February 10, 2026 
 
To: Board of Directors 
 
From: Kim Nakamura, Finance Manager 
 
Subject:  Fiscal Year 2025-2026 2nd Quarter Budget Status Report 

Objective: Receive a report from staff regarding the Fiscal Year (FY) 2025-2026 2nd Quarter Budget 
Status Report, Reserves, and Capital Projects. 

Action Required: No action is necessary; for information and discussion only. 

Discussion: Staff has prepared a “budget to actual” financial status report of the 2nd quarter operating 
results, comparing the FY 2025-2026 budgeted amounts to 2nd quarter results, including reserves, for 
the Board’s information and review.  

Water Program:  

 The Potable Water Program’s water deliveries through the month of December were 3,353 acre 
feet (AF), where budgeted deliveries were 3,742 AF. CamSan water deliveries outside the district 
(Pleasant Valley County Water District) were 643 AF compared to the budgeted amount of 717 
AF. Total Operating Revenues are 88% of budget. Total Expenses plus encumbrances are 87% of 
budget. Net Operating Result is $52,683; $3,194,000 will be contributed to the Potable Water 
Capital Replacement Fund. The Potable water program has received $14,889 in capital and 
mitigation fees. 

 The Non-Potable Water Program’s water deliveries within the district through the month of 
December were 2,553 AF, compared to budgeted deliveries of 2,956 AF. Non-Potable deliveries 
outside the district (Pleasant Valley County Water District) were 1,872 AF of Conejo Creek water 
compared to budgeted amount of 2,359 AF, and 388 AF of CWRF water compared to budgeted 
amount of 407 AF. Total Operating Revenues are 84% of budget. Total Expenses plus 
encumbrances are 77% of budget. Net Operating Result is $56,096; $82,000 will be contributed 
to the Non-Potable Water Capital Replacement Fund.  

The projected Water Program debt service coverage ratio of 7.51 exceeds the minimum 
requirement of 1.15. 

Wastewater Program:  

 The Wastewater Program’s Total Operating Revenues are 92% of budget and Total Expenses 
plus encumbrances are 86% of budget. Net Operating Result is $34,475; $706,000 will be 
contributed to the Wastewater Capital Replacement Fund. 

The projected Wastewater Program debt service coverage ratio of 9.37 exceeds the minimum 
requirement of 1.15.



 

Agenda Item #5 

Budget Summary
2nd QTR
Budget

2nd QTR
Actuals

2nd QTR
Encumb

2nd QTR
Actuals plus

Encumb
Variance

Actual %
FY

Budget

Revenues  
Water Sales:                            

Potable 7,929,354$     7,033,504$     -$               7,033,504$     (895,850) 89%
Recycled/Non-Potable 2,569,944 2,159,059 -                 2,159,059 (410,885) 84%
Water Sales to Pleasant Valley 887,634 609,702 -                 609,702 (277,932) 69%

Meter Service Charge 1,821,300 1,662,592 -                 1,662,592 (158,708) 91%
Sewer Service Charge 3,141,200 2,872,471 -                 2,872,471 (268,729) 91%
Special Services 38,000 86,662 -                 86,662 48,662 228%
Pump Zone/Miscellaneous 17,500 27,024 -                 27,024 9,524 154%

   Total Operating Revenues 16,404,932$   14,451,014$   -$               14,451,014$   (1,953,918)$   88%

Operating Expenses

Import Water Purchases-Calleguas 3,342,639$     3,455,042$     -$               3,455,042$     (112,403) 103%

Calleguas Fixed Charge 544,074 544,074 -                 544,074 -                 100%
CamSan Water 82,543 64,056 -                 64,056            18,487 78%

Conejo Creek Project 598,321 598,321 -                 598,321 0 100%
Salinity Management Pipeline-Calleguas 138,576 99,115 -                 99,115 39,461 72%
Pumping & Production Power 1,916,033 902,424 -                 902,424          1,013,609 47%

   Total Production 6,622,186$     5,663,032$     -$               5,663,032$     959,154$        86%

Regular Salaries 2,089,100$     1,912,328$     -$               1,912,328$     176772 92%
Overtime/Standby 106,160 91,137 -                 91,137 15,023 86%
Part Time 49,050 10,838 -                 10,838 38,212 22%
Benefits 718,686 623,733 -                 623,733 94,953 87%

   Total Salaries & Benefits 2,962,996$     2,638,036$     -$               2,638,036$     324,960$        89%

Outside Contracts 2,183,582$     1,125,349$     263,249$        1,388,598$     794,984 64%
Professional Services 689,566 588,449 294,503          882,952 (193,386) 128%
   Total Outside Cont/Profess Svc 2,873,148$     1,713,798$     557,752$        2,271,550$     601,598$        79%

Utilities 64,751$          60,998$          -$               60,998$          3,753$            94%
Communications 42,301 33,397 -                 33,397 8,904 79%
Pipeline Repairs 245,000 243,264          4,298              247,562          (2,562) 101%
Small Tools & Equipment 23,676 17,250 -                 17,250 6,426 73%
Materials & Supplies 781,858 594,934 6,236              601,170 180,688 77%
Repair Parts & Equip. Maintenance 732,501 262,839 10,037            272,876 459,625 37%
Legal Services 152,500 360,407          -                 360,407          (207,907) 236%

Dues & Subscriptions 28,500 48,509 -                 48,509 (20,009) 170%
Confer. & Travel 14,201 13,257            -                 13,257            944 93%

Safety & Training 28,500 30,198            3,245              33,443            (4,943) 117%
Board Expense 88,500 82,115 -                 82,115 6,385 93%
Bad Debt 5,000 -                 -                 -                 5,000 0%
Fees & Charges 178,188 123,545 -                 123,545 54,643 69%

Insurance 108,251 96,340 -                 96,340 11,911 89%
   Total Supplies and Services 2,493,727$     1,967,053$     23,816$          1,990,869$     502,858$        80%

Total Expenses 14,952,057$   11,981,919$   581,568$        12,563,487$   2,388,570$     84%

Net Operating Revenues 1,452,875$     2,469,095$     (581,568)$      1,887,527$     434,652$        130%

Less: Non Operating Expenses
   Debt Service 2011A/2016 524,467$        524,467$        -$               524,467$        -$               100%
   Rate Stabilization Contribution 35,000            35,000            -                 35,000            -                 100%
   Unfunded Accrued Liability Contribution 115,875          115,875          115,875          -                 100%
   Capital Replacement Contribution 1,528,500 3,982,000 -                 3,982,000       (2,453,500)     261%
   Total Non-Operating Expenses 2,203,842$     4,657,342$     -$               4,657,342$     (2,453,500)$   211%

Add: Non Operating Revenues
   Interest Revenues 658,000 892,608 -                 892,608          234,608$        136%
   Taxes 393,878 461,643          -                 461,643          67,765 117%
   Funding Procurement  Fund -                 102,000 -                 102,000          102,000 -
   Legal Settlement -                 1,456,816       -                 1,456,816       1,456,816       -
   Rate Stabilization Contribution 472,771          -                 -                 -                 (472,771)        -

   Total Non-Operating Revenues 1,524,649$     2,913,067$     -$               2,913,067$     1,388,418$     191%

Net Operating Results  773,682$        724,820$        (581,568)$      143,252$        (630,430)$      19%

     Capital Fees -                 8,400 -                 8,400 8,400              -

     Mitigation & In-Lieu Fees -                 6,489              -                 6,489 6,489              -

-$               14,889$          -$               14,889$          14,889$          -
Net Operating Results After Capital 
Fees & Grants 773,682$        739,709$        (581,568)$      158,141$        (615,541)$      



   
  

Agenda Item #5 

Water Program
2nd QTR
Budget

2nd QTR
Actuals

2nd QTR
Encumb

2nd QTR
Actuals 

plus
Encumb

Variance
Actual %

FY
Budget

Revenues  
Water Sales:                            
          Potable 7,929,354$   7,033,504$     -$             7,033,504$    (895,850)$    89%
          Recycle/Non-Potable 2,569,944     2,159,059       -               2,159,059      (410,885)      84%
          Water Sales to Pleasant Valley 887,634        609,702          -               609,702         (277,932)      69%
Meter Service Charge 1,821,300     1,662,592       -               1,662,592      (158,708)      91%
Special Services 27,000          61,932            -               61,932           34,932         229%
Pump Zone/Miscellaneous 17,500          25,819            -               25,819           8,319           148%

Total Operating Revenues 13,252,732$ 11,552,608$   -$             11,552,608$  (1,700,124)$ 87%

Operating Expenses
Import Water Purchases-Calleguas 3,342,639$   3,455,042$     -$             3,455,042$    (112,403)$    103%
Calleguas Fixed Charge 544,074        544,074          -               544,074         -               100%
CamSan Water 82,543          64,056            -               64,056           18,487         78%
Conejo Creek Project 598,321        598,321          -               598,321         -               100%
Salinity Management Pipeline-Calleguas 134,076        93,777            -               93,777           40,299         70%
Pumping & Production Power 1,916,033     902,424          -               902,424         1,013,609    47%

Total Production 6,617,686$   5,657,694$     -$             5,657,694$    959,992$     85%

Regular Salaries 1,357,915$   1,243,013$     -$             1,243,013$    114,902$     92%
Overtime/Standby 69,004          59,239            -               59,239           9,765           86%
Part Time 31,882          7,045              -               7,045             24,837         22%
Benefits 467,146        405,426          -               405,426         61,720         87%

Total Salaries & Benefits 1,925,947$   1,714,723$     -$             1,714,723$    211,224$     89%

Outside Contracts 1,334,166$   591,005$        84,388$        675,393$       658,773$     51%
Professional Services 490,405        392,905          229,082        621,987         (131,582)      127%

Total Outside Cont/Profess Services 1,824,571$   983,910$        313,470$      1,297,380$    527,191$     71%

Utilities 46,963$        49,186$          -$             49,186$         (2,223)$        105%
Communications 27,496          21,708            -               21,708           5,788           79%
Pipeline Repairs 230,000        243,264          4,298            247,562         (17,562)        108%
Small Tools & Equipment 17,227          12,024            -               12,024           5,203           70%
Materials & Supplies 664,973        525,961          6,015            531,976         132,997       80%
Repair Parts & Equipment Maintenance 635,813        235,908          9,505            245,413         390,400       39%
Legal Services 130,625        349,406          -               349,406         (218,781)      267%
Dues & Subscriptions 18,525          31,531            -               31,531           (13,006)        170%
Conference & Travel 9,231            8,617              -               8,617             614              93%
Safety & Training 18,525          19,629            2,109            21,738           (3,213)          117%
Board Expense 57,525          53,375            -               53,375           4,150           93%
Bad Debt 3,250            -                  -               -                3,250           0%
Fees & Charges 120,148        77,378            -               77,378           42,770         64%
Insurance 70,363          62,621            -               62,621           7,742           89%

Total Supplies & Services 2,050,664$   1,690,608$     21,927$        1,712,535$    338,129$     84%

Total Expenses 12,418,868$ 10,046,935$   335,397$      10,382,332$  2,036,536$  84%

Net Operating Revenues 833,864$      1,505,673$     (335,397)$    1,170,276$    336,412$     140%

Less: Non-Operating Expenses
   Debt Service 2011A/2016 429,160$      429,160$        -$             429,160$       -$             100%
    Rate Stabilization Contribution 30,000          30,000            -               30,000           -               100%
   Unfunded Accrued Liability Contribution 63,375          63,375            63,375           -               100%
   Capital Replacement Contribution 950,000        3,276,000       -               3,276,000      (2,326,000)   345%

Total Non-Operating Expenses 1,472,535$   3,798,535$     -$             3,798,535$    (2,326,000)$ 258%

Add: Non-Operating Revenues
   Interest Revenues 526,500$      716,578$        -$             716,578$       190,078$     136%
   Taxes 393,878        461,643          -               461,643         67,765         117%
   Funding Procurement  Fund -                102,000          -               102,000         102,000       -
   Legal Settlement -                1,456,816       -               1,456,816      1,456,816    -
   Rate Stabilization Contribution 472,771        -                  -               -                (472,771)      -
Total Non-Operating Revenues 1,393,149$   2,737,037$     -$             2,737,037$    1,343,888$  196%

Net Operating Results 754,478$      444,175$        (335,397)$    108,778$       (645,700)$    14%

Capital Fees -                8,400              -               8,400             8,400           -
Mitigation & In-Lieu Fees -                6,489              -               6,489             6,489           -

-$              14,889$          -$             14,889$         14,889$       -
Net Operating Results After
 Capital Fees & Grants 754,478$      459,064$        (335,397)$    123,667$       (630,811)$    

Debt Ratio 4.09 8.29 7.51



 

Agenda Item #5 

Potable Water Program
2nd QTR
Budget

2nd QTR
Actuals

2nd QTR
Encumb

2nd QTR
Actuals 

plus
Encumb

Variance
Actual %

FY
Budget

Revenues
Water Sales:                            
           Potable 7,929,354$   7,033,504$   -$              7,033,504$    (895,850)$      89%
           Water Sales to PVCWD-CamSan 298,146        132,827 132,827 (165,319)$      45%
Meter Service Charge 1,753,500     1,607,193     -                1,607,193      (146,307)        92%
Special Services 17,000          30,587          -                30,587           13,587           180%
Pump Zone/Miscellaneous 10,000          15,477          -                15,477           5,477             155%

Total Operating Revenues 10,008,000$ 8,819,588$   -$              8,819,588$    (1,188,412)$   88%

Operating Expenses
Import Water Purchases-Calleguas 2,884,108$   3,182,712$   -$              3,182,712$    (298,604)$      110%
Calleguas Fixed Charge 480,699        506,913        -                506,913         (26,214)          105%
CamSan 82,543 64,056 -                64,056           18,487           78%
Salinity Management Pipeline-Calleguas 134,076        93,777          -                93,777           40,299           70%
Pumping & Production Power 1,078,824     394,738        -                394,738         684,086         37%

Total Production 4,660,250$   4,242,196$   -$              4,242,196$    418,054$       91%

Regular Salaries 882,645$      807,958$      -$              807,958$       74,687$         92%
Overtime/Standby 44,852          38,505          -                38,505           6,347             86%
Part Time 20,723          4,579            -                4,579             16,144           22%
Benefits 303,645        263,527        -                263,527         40,118           87%

Total Salaries & Benefits 1,251,865$   1,114,569$   -$              1,114,569$    137,296$       89%

Outside Contracts 864,056$      311,323$      49,686$        361,009$       503,048$       42%
Professional Services 296,140        230,684        168,123        398,807         (102,667)        135%

Total Outside Cont/Profss Services 1,160,196$   542,007$      217,808$      759,815$       400,381$       65%

Utilities 40,021$        43,792$        -$              43,792$         (3,771)$          109%
Communications 14,298          11,288          -                11,288           3,010             79%
Pipeline Repairs 190,000        206,747        4,298            211,045         (21,045)          111%
Small Tools & Equipment 12,588          9,293            -                9,293             3,295             74%
Materials & Supplies 616,486        493,854        5,909            499,763         116,723         81%
Repair Parts & Equip. Maint. 418,323        210,783        8,459            219,242         199,082         52%
Legal Services 75,125          208,009        -                208,009         (132,884)        277%
Dues & Subscriptions 9,633            16,396          -                16,396           (6,763)            170%
Conference & Travel 4,800            4,481            -                4,481             319                93%
Safety & Training 9,633            10,207          1,097            11,304           (1,671)            117%
Board Expense 29,913          27,755          -                27,755           2,158             93%
Bad Debt 1,690            -               -                -                1,690             0%
Fees & Charges 97,865          54,579          -                54,579           43,286           56%
Insurance 36,589          32,563          -                32,563           4,026             89%

Total Supplies & Services 1,556,964$   1,329,747$   19,762$        1,349,509$    207,455$       87%

Total Expenses 8,629,275$   7,228,519$   237,570$      7,466,089$    1,163,186$    87%

Net Operating Revenues 1,378,725$   1,591,069$   (237,570)$     1,353,499$    (25,226)$        98%

Less: Non-Operating Expenses
Debt Service 2011A/2016 413,757$      413,757$      -$              413,757$       -$               100%
Rate Stabilization Contribution 30,000          30,000          -                30,000           -                 100%
Unfunded Accrued Liability Contribution 63,375          63,375          -                63,375           -                 100%
Capital Replacement Contribution 950,000        3,194,000     -                3,194,000      (2,244,000)     336%

Total Non-Operating Expenses 1,457,132$   3,701,132$   -$              3,701,132$    (2,244,000)$   254%

Add: Non-Operating Revenues
Interest Revenues 411,500        564,514        -                564,514         153,014         137%
Taxes 236,326        276,986        -                276,986         40,660           117%
Funding Procurement Fund -                102,000        -                102,000         102,000         -
Legal Settlement -                1,456,816     1,456,816      1,456,816      -

Total Non-Operating Revenues 647,826$      2,400,316$   -$              2,400,316$    1,752,490$    371%

Net Operating Results 569,419$      290,253$      (237,570)$     52,683$         (516,736)$      

Capital Fees -$              8,400$          -$              8,400$           8,400$           -
Mitigation & In-Lieu Fees -                6,489            -                6,489             6,489             -

-$              14,889$        -$              14,889$         14,889$         -
Net Operating Results After
Capital Fees & Grants 569,419$      305,142$      (237,570)$     67,572$         (501,847)$      

 



 

Agenda Item #5 

Non-Potable Water Program
2nd QTR
Budget

2nd QTR
Actuals

2nd QTR
Encumb

2nd QTR
Actuals plus

Encumb
Variance

Actual %
FY

Budget

Revenues  
Water Sales:                            
          Recycle/Non-Potable 2,569,944$ 2,159,059$   -$            2,159,059$     (410,885)$    84%
          Water Sales to Pleasant Valley 589,488      476,875        -              476,875          (112,613)      81%
Meter Service Charge 67,800        55,399          -              55,399            (12,401)        82%
Special Services 10,000        31,345          -              31,345            21,345          313%
Pump Zone/Miscellaneous 7,500          10,342          -              10,342            2,842            138%

Total Operating Revenues 3,244,732$ 2,733,020$   -$            2,733,020$     (511,712)$    84%

Operating Expenses
Import Water Purchases-Calleguas 458,531$    272,330$      -$            272,330$        186,201$      59%
Calleguas Fixed Charge 63,375        37,161          -              37,161            26,214          59%
Conejo Creek Project 598,321      598,321        -              598,321          -               100%
Production Power 837,209      507,686        -              507,686          329,523        61%

Total Production 1,957,436$ 1,415,498$   -$            1,415,498$     541,938$      72%

Regular Salaries 475,270$    435,055$      -$            435,055$        40,215$        92%
Overtime/Standby 24,152        20,734          -              20,734            3,418            86%
Part Time 11,159        2,466            -              2,466              8,693            22%
Benefits 163,501      141,899        -              141,899          21,602          87%

Total Salaries & Benefits 674,082$    600,154$      -$            600,154$        73,928$        89%

Outside Contracts 470,110$    279,682$      34,703$      314,385$        155,726$      67%
Professional Services 194,265      162,221        60,960        223,181          (28,916)        115%

Total Outside Cont/Profess Services 664,375$    441,903$      95,662$      537,565$        126,810$      81%

Utilities 6,942$        5,394$          -$            5,394$            1,548$          78%
Communications 13,198        10,420          -              10,420            2,778            79%
Pipeline Repairs 40,000        36,517          -              36,517            3,483            91%
Small Tools & Equipment 4,639          2,731            -              2,731              1,908            59%
Materials & Supplies 48,487        32,107          106             32,213            16,274          66%
Repair Parts & Equipment Maintenance 217,490      25,125          1,047          26,172            191,319        12%
Legal Services 55,500        141,397        -              141,397          (85,897)        255%
Dues & Subscriptions 8,892          15,135          -              15,135            (6,243)          170%
Conference & Travel 4,431          4,136            -              4,136              295               93%
Safety & Training 8,892          9,422            1,012          10,434            (1,542)          117%
Board Expense 27,612        25,620          -              25,620            1,992            93%
Bad Debt 1,560          -               -              -                  1,560            0%
Fees & Charges 22,283        22,799          -              22,799            (516)             102%
Insurance 33,774        30,058          -              30,058            3,716            89%

Total Supplies & Services 493,700$    360,861$      2,165$        363,026$        130,675$      74%

Total Expenses 3,789,593$ 2,818,416$   97,827$      2,916,243$     873,351$      77%

Net Operating Revenues (544,861)$   (85,396)$      (97,827)$     (183,223)$       361,639$      34%

Less: Non-Operating Expenses
   Debt Service 2011A/2016 15,403$      15,403$        -$            15,403$          -$             100%
   Capital Replacement Contribution -              82,000          -              82,000            (82,000)        -

Total Non-Operating Expenses 15,403$      97,403$        -$            97,403$          (82,000)$      632%

Add: Non-Operating Revenues
   Interest Revenues 115,000$    152,064$      -$            152,064$        37,064$        132%
   Taxes 157,552      184,657        -              184,657          27,105          117%
   Rate Stabilization Contribution 472,771      -               -              -                  (472,771)      -

Total Non-Operating Revenues 745,323$    336,721$      -$            336,721$        64,169$        45%

Net Operating Results 185,059$    153,922$      (97,827)$     56,096$          (128,963)$    
Net Operating Results After 
Capital Fees & Grants 185,059$    153,922$      (97,827)$     56,096$          (128,963)$    



 

Agenda Item #5 

Wastewater Program
2nd QTR
Budget

2nd QTR
Actuals

2nd QTR
Encumb

2nd QTR
Actuals plus

Encumb
Variance

Actual %
FY

Budget

Revenues  
Sewer Service Charge 3,141,200$ 2,872,471$ -$                 2,872,471$     (268,729)$    91%

Special Services 11,000        24,730        -                   24,730            13,730          225%

Miscellaneous -              1,205          -                   1,205              1,205            -
Total Operating Revenues 3,152,200$ 2,898,406$ -$                 2,898,406$     (253,794)$    92%

Operating Expenses
Salinity Management Pipeline-Calleguas 4,500$        5,338$        -$                 5,338$            (838)$           119%

Total Production 4,500$        5,338$        -$                 5,338$            (838)$           119%

Regular Salaries 731,185$    669,315$    -$                 669,315$        61,870$        92%
Overtime/Standby 37,156        31,898        -                   31,898            5,258            86%
Part Time 17,168        3,793          -                   3,793              13,375          22%
Benefits 251,540      218,307      -                   218,307          33,233          87%

Total Salaries & Benefits 1,037,049$ 923,313$    -$                 923,313$        113,736$      89%

Outside Contracts 849,416$    534,344$    178,861$         713,205$        136,211$      84%
Professional Services 199,161      195,544      65,421             260,965          (61,804)        131%

Total Outside Cont/Profess Services 1,048,577$ 729,888$    244,281$         974,170$        74,407$        93%

Utilities 17,788$      11,812$      -$                 11,812$          5,976$          66%
Communications 14,805        11,689        -                   11,689            3,116            79%
Pipeline Repairs 15,000        -              -                   -                  15,000          0%
Small Tools & Equipment 6,449          5,226          -                   5,226              1,223            81%
Materials & Supplies 116,885      68,973        221                  69,194            47,691          59%
Repair Parts & Equipment Maintenance 96,688        26,931        532                  27,463            69,225          28%
Legal Services 21,875        11,001        -                   11,001            10,874          50%
Dues & Subscriptions 9,975          16,978        -                   16,978            (7,003)          170%
Conference & Travel 4,970          4,640          -                   4,640              330               93%
Safety & Training 9,975          10,569        1,136               11,705            (1,730)          117%
Board Expense 30,975        28,740        -                   28,740            2,235            93%
Bad Debt 1,750          -              -                   -                  1,750            0%
Fees & Charges 58,040        46,167        -                   46,167            11,873          80%
Insurance 37,888        33,719        -                   33,719            4,169            89%

Total Supplies & Services 443,063$    276,445$    1,889$             278,334$        164,730$      63%

Total Expenses 2,533,189$ 1,934,984$ 246,170$         2,181,155$     352,035$      86%

Net Operating Revenues 619,011$    963,422$    (246,170)$        717,252$        98,241$        116%

Less: Non-Operating Expenses
   Debt Service 2011A/2016 95,307$      95,307$      -$                 95,307$          -$             100%
   Rate Stabilization Contribution 5,000          5,000          -                   5,000              -               100%
   Unfunded Accrued Liability Contribution 52,500        52,500        -                   52,500            -               100%
   Capital Replacement Contribution 578,500      706,000      -                   706,000          (127,500)      122%

Total Non-Operating Expenses 731,307$    858,807$    -$                 858,807$        (127,500)$    117%

Add: Non-Operating Revenues
   Interest Revenues 131,500$    176,030$    -$                 176,030$        44,530$        134%

Total Non-Operating Revenues 131,500$    176,030$    -$                 176,030$        44,530$        134%

Net Operating Results 19,204$      280,645$    (246,170)$        34,475$          15,271$        
Net Operating Results After
 Capital Fees & Grants 19,204$      280,645$    (246,170)$        34,475$          15,271$        

Debt Ratio 7.87 11.96 9.37



 

Agenda Item #5 

Sept. 30, 2025 Dec. 31, 2025

Unrestricted Reserves

Potable Operating and Emergency Reserves (OER) $1,241,056 $1,241,305
Non-Potable Potable Operating and Emergency Reserves (OER) $611,831 $613,783
Wastewater Operating and Emergency Reserves (OER) $624,025 $624,418

Rate Stabilization Fund-Water-Potable $345,625 $360,625

Rate Stabilization Fund-Non-Potable $605,625 $605,625

Rate Stabilization Fund-Wastewater $276,250 $278,750

Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) Potable $158,438 $190,125

Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) Non-Potable $68,250 $68,250

Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) Wastewater $131,250 $157,500

Funding Procurement Fund $0 $118,000

Potable Water Capital Replacement Fund (PWCRF) $20,149,750 $21,902,750

Non-Potable Water Capital Replacement Fund (NPWCRF) $4,274,237 $3,821,237

Non-Potable Water In-lieu Fees (Wildwood Preserve) $333,342 $333,342

Wastewater Capital Replacement Fund (WWCRF) $2,432,036 $2,367,036

Potable Water Capital Improvement Fund (PWCIF) $373,535 $379,535

Potable Water In-Lieu and Mitigation Fees $712,726 $719,215

Wastewater Capital Improvement Fund (WWCIF) $281,708 $281,708

Total Unresricted Reserves $32,619,684 $34,063,204

Restricted Assets

Debt Reserves 2016 $720,329 $720,329

Total Debt $720,329 $720,329

CIP
Potable Water Capital Replacements $1,575,866 $1,534,092
Non-Potable Water Capital Replacements $1,376,035 $1,080,237
Wastewater Capital Replacements $3,091,837 $2,795,188
Potable Water Capital Improvements $415,526 $423,228
Non-Potable Water Capital Improvements $0 $0
Wastewater Capital Improvements $695,377 $587,185
Potable In-Lieu and Mitigation Fees $4,375,203 $3,413,624

Total CIP $11,529,844 $9,833,554

Total Restricted Assets $12,250,173 $10,553,883

Grand Total $44,869,857 $44,617,087



 

Agenda Item #5 

CIP No. Description Budget Expenses Balance Encumbrance
Budget

Remaining 
Expense/Enc 
to Budget %

General Replacements

400-22-02 Utility Billing System 504,000            401,643          102,357          30,000            72,357            86%

400-26-02 Fleet Vehicle Replacement 800,000            -                 800,000          771,981          28,019            96%

General Replacements 1,304,000         401,643          902,357          801,981          100,376          92%

Potable Water Projects

600-23-01 PV Well #3-Engineering Phase 230,000            34,740            195,260          158,822.00      36,438            84%

600-24-01 PV Well Iron/Manganese Removal 2,190,000         1,647,636        542,364          384,125          158,239          93%

600-24-02 Water Quality Sampling Stations 40,000              39,335            665                 -                 665                 98%

600-24-03 New University Well 2,200,000         152,436          2,047,564        1,823,331        224,233          90%

600-25-02 Pump Station 1 to 2 175,000            -                 175,000          -                 175,000          0%

600-25-03 Conejo Water Treatment Plant 1,100,000         224,000          876,000          729,974.60      146,025          87%

650-20-03 Meter Station Control Cabinets 280,000            128,076          151,924          -                 151,924          46%

650-21-01 Meter Station 5 and 7 Rehabilitation 290,000            208,222          81,778            -                 81,778            72%

650-25-01 4C Hydropneumatic Pump Station 300,000            76,216            223,784          132,086          91,698            69%

650-25-02 MS#11 & Pressure Releif Stations 330,000            -                 330,000          -                 330,000          0%

650-25-04 WaterView Software 100,000            -                 100,000          96,020            3,980              96%

650-26-01 4C Tank Replacement 250,000            -                 250,000          -                 250,000          0%

650-26-02 Distribution Valve Replacement 100,000            8,390              91,610            -                 91,610            8%

Total Potable Water Projects 7,585,000         2,519,051        5,065,949        3,324,359        1,741,590        77%

Non-Potable Water Projects

750-23-01 AG3 Tank Replacement-Engineering 1,325,000         1,223,097        101,903          27,598            74,305            94%

750-25-01 Santa Rosa Well No. 10 Refurbishment 965,000            698,201          266,799          114,524          152,275          84%

750-25-02 Pump Station No. 4 Replacement 325,000            -                 325,000          -                 325,000          0%

750-25-03 Ag2 Tank-Engineering Phase 105,000            -                 105,000          -                 105,000          0%

Total Non-Potable Water Projects 2,720,000         1,921,298        798,702          142,122          656,580          76%

Wastewater Projects -                 

900-18-02 De-Watering Press 4,164,100         3,793,727        370,373          48,642            321,731          92%

500-22-01 Sequential Chloramination 400,000            183,188          216,812          -                 216,812          46%

550-21-01 Sewer Lift Read Road MCC 360,000            277,559          82,441            -                 82,441            77%

550-23-01 Collection System Hotspots-Engineering 2,430,000         677,782          1,752,218        1,401,961        350,257          86%

550-24-02 CWRF Influent Pump 350,000            163,945          186,055          -                 186,055          47%

550-25-01 CWRF PLC-Engineering Phase 300,000            224,614          75,386            -                 75,386            75%

550-25-02 CWRF Power Distribution Rehabilitation 250,000            153,696          96,304            55,928            40,376            84%

550-25-03 Lift Station No. 4 175,000            168,089          6,911              6,352              559                 100%

550-26-01 Sewer Lift Station No. 2 Refurbisment 235,000            1,802              233,198          194,138          39,061            83%

550-26-02 Effluent Booster Pump #2 40,000              33,152            6,848              1,500              5,348              87%
550-26-03 Sewer Lift 1A Pump Replacement 40,000              -                 40,000            37,899            2,101              95%

Total Wastewater Projects 8,744,100         5,677,554        3,066,546        1,746,419        1,320,127        85%

Total CIPs 20,353,100        10,519,546      9,833,554        6,014,880        3,818,674        81%

Capital Project Listing 2nd Quarter FY2025-26

 
 
 
 



 

Agenda Item #6 

 

 

    Board Memorandum 

February 10, 2026 

To: Board of Directors  

From: Kevin Wahl, Director of Operations 

Subject:  Truck Purchase for CWRF Solids Dewatering Press Facility 

Objective: Purchase a truck to move the solids trailers at the Camrosa Wastewater Reclamation Facility 
(CWRF) Solids Dewatering Press Facility. 

Action Required: It is recommended that the Board of Directors: 

1) Appropriate funds from the Wastewater Capital Replacement Fund, in the amount of 
$80,000.00, and establish a fixed asset for the purchase of a truck for the Solids Dewatering 
Press Facility at CWRF. 

2) Authorize the General Manager to purchase a used truck at fair market value not to exceed 
$80,000.00, including taxes, license, and registration. 

Discussion: The new Solids Dewatering Press Facility produces dried biosolids and loads them into a 
trailer that is hauled off site and properly recycled by Synagro West, LLC. Camrosa staff needs to move 
the trailer daily in order to distribute the load evenly.  

New trucks run around $150,000.00. We have identified that there is a used market for this type of 
truck. Used trucks can be found in good condition with lower milage in the $50,000 – $80,000 range. 
The turnover rate for such trucks is quick. This authorization would allow Camrosa to negotiate and 
purchase a used truck in the current market. 

Funding for the truck purchase is available in the Wastewater Capital Replacement Fund.  

 

 

 



 

Agenda Item #7 

 

 

    Board Memorandum 

February 10, 2026 

To: Board of Directors  

From: Kevin Wahl, Director of Operations 

Subject:  Water Meter Replacement 

Objective: Award a contract for installation of customer water meters to replace existing aging water 
meters. 

Action Required: Authorize the General Manager to issue a purchase order with DB Utility, LLC., in an 
amount not to exceed $299,565.00, for installation of 1,540 ¾-inch meters and 679 1-inch meters. 

Discussion: The Camrosa team has been working diligently on closing the gap between water 
production and metered sales discrepancies. A significant part of this work has focused on MTU 
reliability and meter accuracy. Preliminary analysis has identified that many of our aging meters have a 
very high failure rate, i.e. underreporting or stuck meters. 

Camrosa has identified for replacement 2,219 additional ¾” and 1” meters. These meters were installed 
between 1985 and 2013 (avg. = 1995). Analysis shows that of the meters in this group, 50% have already 
been replaced due to identified failure. The current average age of all our ¾” and 1” meters is 2013. 
After this group is replaced, the span will be 2014 – 2026 (avg. = 2020). 

Staff have retained a representative sampling of the meters being replaced and will be testing them to 
establish meter accuracy benchmarks to develop ongoing annual meter replacement strategies. 

Camrosa has already purchased these meters through the operating expense budget, and bids for 
replacement were solicited. Two bids were received: 

• DB Utility, LLC. $299,565.00 
• Concord Environmental Energy $371,790.00 

Staff is confident in DB Utility’s ability to promptly provide for the installation of the meters. 

Funding for the meter replacement is available from the District’s Operational Budget.  Fiscal Year 2025–
26 has a Meter Replacement line item in the amount of $150,000.00. The remaining funds needed will 
come from the Distribution Maintenance line item of $450,000.00. 

Attachment: 

 DB UTILITY LLC Agreement 
 















 

Agenda Item #8 

 
 
 
 

    Board Memorandum 

 
February 10, 2026 
 
To: Board of Directors  
 
From: Norman Huff, General Manager 
 
Subject:  Cross-Connection Control Plan (CCCP) Adoption 

Objective: Adopt the Camrosa Water District Cross-Connection Control Plan (CCCP) as approved by the 
California State Water Resources Control Board, Division of Drinking Water. 

Action Required: Adopt Resolution 26-01 adopting the Camrosa Water District Cross-Connection 
Control Plan (CCCP) as approved by the California State Water Resources Control Board, Division of 
Drinking Water. 

Background: The California State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB), Division of Drinking Water, 
implemented the Cross-Connection Control Policy Handbook (CCCPH), effective July 1, 2024. The policy 
requires all public water systems to prepare and submit a Cross-Connection Control Plan describing 
program authority, hazard assessment procedures, backflow prevention requirements, testing, 
recordkeeping, enforcement, and administration. 

Camrosa Water District prepared its Cross-Connection Control Plan and submitted it to the Division of 
Drinking Water on October 9, 2025. 

By letter dated October 22, 2025, the Division of Drinking Water approved the District’s Cross-
Connection Control Plan and confirmed that the District demonstrated compliance with CCCPH 
requirements. The approval letter also requires that updated plans be submitted if substantial revisions 
are made. 

Discussion: Formal Board adoption of the approved Cross-Connection Control Plan will: 

 Establish the Plan as official District policy, included by reference in Ordinance 40. 
 Confirm Board support for CCCPH program implementation 
 Document the District’s regulatory compliance framework 
 Support ongoing enforcement and administrative actions under the program 
 Provide a clear governance record tied to the State approval 

The proposed Resolution adopts the approved Plan and authorizes the General Manager (or designee) 
to implement, administer, and submit future updates to the Division of Drinking Water as required. 

Attachments:  

 Resolution 26-01 Adopting the Cross-Connection Control Plan 
 Camrosa Water District Cross-Connection Control Plan  
 State Water Resources Control Board Approval Letter 











































 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page 18 

6. Backflow Prevention Assembly Testers and Cross Connection Specialist 
To comply with the California Cross-Connection Control Policy Handbook, it is essential that all 
individuals responsible for testing, inspecting, and maintaining backflow prevention assemblies meet 
the necessary qualifications and certifications. This process ensures that the water distribution system 
is safeguarded from contamination risks by having only competent, certified professionals handle 
backflow prevention assemblies. Key elements of this process include verifying the individual’s 
certification, ensuring the calibration of test equipment, and maintaining accurate reports of test 
results. 

a) Certified Backflow Prevention Assembly Tester - Camrosa Water District must ensure all 
backflow prevention assembly testers hired by their customers are currently  CA-NV AWWA 
or ABPA certified per Article 4 of the SWRCB CCCPH. 

b) Certified Backflow Prevention Assembly Testers and Certified Cross-Connection Control 
Specialists - Camrosa Water District must ensure their Cross-Connection Control Specialists 
must be currently certified as both a CA-NV AWWA or ABPA Cross-Connection Control 
Specialist and CA-NV AWWA or ABPA Backflow Prevention Assembly Tester per Article 4 of 
the SWRCB CCCPH. Camrosa Water District’s CCC Specialist contacts: 

Daniel Salinas 
Cross-Connection Control Specialist  
#03758 CA NV AWWA CCC Specialist Certification 

Joshua Johnson 
Cross-Connection Control Specialist  
#03757 CA NV AWWA CCC Specialist Certification 

Dylan Bielski 
Cross-Connection Control Specialist  
#03756 CA NV AWWA CCC Specialist Certification 

6.1. Process for Ensuring Qualifications 

a) Verification of Certification as a Backflow Prevention Assembly Tester: 

i. Certification Requirements: Every individual performing testing or inspections on 
backflow prevention assemblies must be a certified Backflow Prevention Assembly 
Tester, as defined by the SWRCB CCCPH. Certification typically requires passing a 
written and practical examination administered by a state-approved certification 
agency. 

ii. Initial Verification: Before authorizing a tester to conduct work within the water 
system, the water utility must confirm the individual holds a valid certification. This is 
typically done by requesting a copy of the tester’s certification and checking it against 
a list of approved certification agencies. 

iii. Ongoing Compliance: The utility must regularly verify that the tester’s certification 
remains current. Certification usually requires periodic renewal, which may include 
continuing education or retesting. A record of certification status should be maintained 
for each tester authorized to work within the utility’s service area. 

  



 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page 19 

b) Test Kit Calibration: 

i. Calibration Requirements: To ensure the accuracy of backflow prevention assembly 
testing, testers must use calibrated testing equipment. Test kits must be calibrated at 
least annually or more frequently if recommended by the manufacturer. 

ii. Verification of Calibration: Before permitting a tester to perform inspections or testing, 
the utility must verify that their test kit has been calibrated within the required 
timeframe. This can be done by reviewing a calibration certificate from an accredited 
calibration facility or manufacturer. 

iii. Ongoing Monitoring: The utility should maintain a schedule of calibration due dates for 
each tester’s equipment and require updated calibration certificates as a condition for 
continued work. Uncalibrated equipment should not be allowed for testing until 
calibration is confirmed. 

 
 



 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page 20 

7. RECORD KEEPING 
A robust tracking system is essential for managing and maintaining compliance with the California 
Cross-Connection Control Policy Handbook (CCCPH). This system ensures that all relevant 
information about backflow prevention assemblies is readily available, up-to-date, and meets the 
recordkeeping requirements outlined in the CCCPH. The system is designed to track vital details, 
including recordkeeping information, the location and type of backflow prevention assemblies, 
and the specific hazards each assembly protects against. 

A system of cross-connection record keeping shall be maintained. Special software specifically for 
cross-connections may be used for: 

• Efficient record searches 
• Easy reporting 
• Simple updating 
• Automatic letter generation 
• Automatic deadline notification 

All hazard assessment information must be in the records including: 
• Address and location 
• Owner name and contact information 
• List of testable assemblies 
• Description of other cross-connections within the facility 

o Air gaps 
o Non-testable assemblies 

• Degree of hazard classification and basis 
• Required re-inspection frequency 

All testable assemblies must be in the records including: 
• Location of the assembly 
• Name and contact information of assembly owner 
• Make, model, and size of assembly 
• Degree of hazard classification 
• Required testing frequency and basis 
• Test history 

Standard letter, form, and report templates may be used to simplify the program requirements 
including: 

• Inspection forms 
• Assembly testing forms 
• Inspection and/or assembly testing notification letters 
• Noncompliance letters 
• Water service termination notice 
• Hydrant use authorization forms 

Monitoring changes in water usage and identifying new customers are essential aspects of the 
cross-connection control program. Camrosa Water District will make every effort to prevent and 
eliminate cross-connections during installations to ensure ongoing compliance. Collaboration and 
communication with the local plumbing code inspector will be prioritized to support this 
objective.  



 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page 21 

8. ENFORCEMENT 
To safeguard public health, water customers found in violation of cross-connection regulations 
will be required to comply promptly or risk losing their connection to the public water system. 
Camrosa Water District’s Ordinance grants authority to inspect facilities, terminate water service, 
and impose fines to enforce these rules. 

Following an inspection, if a violation is identified, the customer will be issued a non-compliance 
notice. The timeframe for completing corrective actions will be determined by Camrosa Water 
District, based primarily on the severity of the risk posed by the violation, but also considering the 
complexity and cost of the required actions. Cross-connections that present an imminent and 
extreme hazard will be immediately disconnected and remain so until proper protection is 
installed. Less severe cross-connections are generally expected to be resolved within 30 to 60 
days. The specific corrective actions and deadlines will be outlined in the non-compliance notice. 

Failure to submit a test form for a backflow prevention assembly that has passed testing 
requirements is considered a cross-connection violation and must be corrected. Non-compliance 
may result in water service termination and/or fines. 

In cases where water service must be shut off to protect the public water system, the local health 
department, fire department, law enforcement, and Camrosa Water District’s manager may need 
to be notified.



 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page 22 

9. PUBLIC EDUCATION AND COLLABORATION WITTH LOCAL DISTRICT 
DEPARTMENTS 
The cross-connection control program staff must have a good understanding of the program. Camrosa 
Water District shall ensure their cross-connection control staff receives proper in-the-field training as 
well as classroom education focusing on terminology, backflow prevention devices/assemblies, 
regulations, and hydraulic concepts.  In addition, cross-connection control staff will be encouraged to 
receive continuing education to be made aware of new backflow prevention devices/assemblies, 
regulation changes (i.e. plumbing code updates), new water use devices that pose cross-connection 
concerns, etc. 

Furthermore, attempts to educate the public about cross-connections may be made by distributing 
pamphlets on common residential cross-connections, visiting schools, providing onsite education of 
facility management and maintenance staff during routine inspections, speaking at condominium 
association meetings, showing videos on local access channels, or posting newspaper 
announcements. 

The public outreach and education program is designed to raise awareness about the importance of 
cross-connection control and the potential risks associated with backflow. The program aims to 
inform and educate property owners, businesses, and the general public about their responsibilities 
in preventing cross-connections and ensuring the safety of the public drinking water system. 

Target Audience: 
• Property owners 
• Businesses 
• Building officials 
• Plumbing officials 
• General public 

Key Components: 
• Educational Materials: 

o Develop informative materials such as brochures, flyers, posters, and fact sheets that 
explain the concept of cross-connections, the potential risks, and the importance of 
backflow prevention. 

o Include clear and concise information about the requirements of the CCCPH and the role 
of property owners and businesses in preventing cross-connections. 

• Public Workshops and Seminars: 
o Organize workshops and seminars for property owners, businesses, and professionals to 

provide in-depth information about cross-connection control. 
o Cover topics such as the identification of potential cross-connections, the selection and 

installation of appropriate backflow prevention assemblies, and the importance of regular 
testing and maintenance. 

• Online Resources: 
o Develop a dedicated website or online portal with resources related to cross-connection 

control, including educational materials, FAQs, and contact information. 
o Provide online training modules or webinars to reach a wider audience. 

• Media Outreach: 
o Utilize social media, local newspapers, radio, and television to disseminate information 

about cross-connection control and the importance of public participation. 
o Conduct media interviews to raise awareness and address questions from the public. 



 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page 23 

9.1. Collaboration with Local District Departments 

Collaboration with Local Entities: 
• Establish strong working relationships with local building officials, plumbing officials, and 

other relevant entities. 
• Coordinate outreach efforts and ensure that they are aligned with local regulations and 

requirements. 

Agencies Involved in Cross-Connection Control 
• Fire Department 

o Purpose: Coordinates on fire sprinkler systems, fire lines, and alternate backflow 
protection methods. 

o Email: vcfd@venturacounty.gov 
o Phone: (805) 388-4276 

• City of Camarillo 
o Public Works: (805) 388-5300 
o Sanitary District: (805) 383-5663 
o Water: (805) 388-5373 

• City of Thousand Oaks 
o Email: Publicworks@toaks.gov 
o Public works: (805) 449-2400 
o Water & Wastewater: (805) 449-2499 

• County of Ventura 
o Public Works: (805) 654-2018 
o Water & Wastewater: (805) 378-3000 

• Environmental Health / Local Health Department (County of Ventura) 
o Purpose: Assists in identifying health hazards, especially for high-risk sites like medical 

facilities, labs, or industrial users. 
o Email: EHDmessages@venturacounty.gov 
o Phone: (805) 654-2813 

• Camrosa Operations and Maintenance 
o Purpose: Coordinates on system isolation, water service modifications, and backflow 

device installations. 
o Email: chrisp@camrosa.com 
o Phone: (805) 469-6412 

• IT / GIS Department - ZWorld 
o Purpose: Supports mapping of backflow devices and integration of digital records. 
o Email: info@zworldgis.com 
o Phone: (805) 618-8860 



 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page 24 

10. BACKFLOW INCIDENT RESPONSE PLAN 
Camrosa Water District shall develop and maintain an Emergency Response Plan document to 
appropriately respond to a backflow event.  The written ERP shall be readily available to designated 
personnel.  This procedure outlines the process for investigating and responding to suspected 
backflow incidents to safeguard public health and ensure the safety and quality of the water supply. 
It addresses steps from initial reporting through investigation, corrective actions, and follow-up.  A 
sample incident response can be found in Appendix D. 

10.1 Incident Identification and Initial Response 

Consideration of Complaints or Reports of Changes in Water Quality as Possible Backflow 
Incidents. 

• When a complaint or report of a change in water quality is received, further investigation 
will be conducted by Camrosa Water District to determine if a potential backflow 
incident may have occurred. Common complaints that could indicate backflow include: 

o Unusual taste, odor, or color in water 
o Visible debris or particles in water 
o Reports of illness that could be linked to water quality 
o Changes in water pressure or flow 

Initial Response: 
• Customer Interview: Contact the customer to gather detailed information about the 

complaint (e.g., location, time, and description of the issue). 
• Dispatch Team: Send a field technician to the reported location for an initial assessment 

and water quality sampling. 

10.2. Investigation and Verification 

Water Quality Sampling and Pressure Recording 

• Once a suspected backflow incident is reported, a thorough investigation will be 
initiated, involving both water quality testing and pressure monitoring. 

Steps: 

1. Water Quality Sampling 
o On-Site Testing: Field personnel will conduct immediate water quality tests at 

the site of the reported incident, which may include testing for parameters such 
as: 
 Chlorine residual 
 pH 
 Turbidity 
 Presence of bacteria or contaminants 

o Laboratory Analysis: If required, water samples will be sent to a certified 
laboratory for more comprehensive testing, including testing for chemicals, 
pollutants, or pathogens that may indicate contamination from backflow. 

2. Pressure Recording 
o System Pressure Evaluation: Review pressure data from the local area, focusing 

on any recent drops in system pressure that could indicate a backflow event. 



 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page 25 

Field technicians may also install temporary pressure loggers in the affected area 
to monitor any ongoing pressure fluctuations. 

o Backflow Prevention Device Inspection: Inspect and test any backflow 
prevention devices in the area to ensure they are functioning correctly. This 
includes reduced pressure zone (RPZ) devices, check valves, or other cross-
connection control devices. 

3. Cross-Connection Inspection 
o Perform a survey of the suspected location and surrounding areas to identify 

potential cross-connections that could have led to backflow. Verify that these 
connections are properly protected by backflow prevention 
assembly(s)/devices. 

10.3. Backflow Incident Response, Notification, and Follow-Up Actions 

Documentation of Investigation, Response, and Follow-Up Activities: 

• Every step of the investigation, response, and follow-up will be documented to ensure a 
clear record of actions taken and to maintain compliance with regulatory requirements. 

• Camrosa Water District must notify the State Water Resources Control Board, Division 
of Drinking Water (DDW), and the applicable local health department within 24 hours of 
determining that a backflow incident has occurred or is suspected to have occurred. 

• If required by the State Water Board, the Public Water System, [Utility Name] must issue 
a Tier 1 Public Notification in accordance with California Code of Regulations, Title 22, 
Section 64463.1. 

• The written report must include, at a minimum, the elements listed in Appendix D of this 
document. 

• Upon request by the State Water Board, [Utility Name] must submit a written incident 
report by the date specified by the State Water Board. The report must describe: 

Steps: 
1. Incident Report 

o Details of the Report: The utility will create a formal report documenting the 
nature of the complaint, location, time of the report, and the suspected cause 
of the backflow incident. 

o Investigation Summary: The report may include details of the investigation, such 
as: 
 The nature and extent of the backflow incident, 
 The location(s) and area(s) affected, 
 The immediate corrective actions taken, and 
 Results of water quality testing 
 Pressure monitoring data 
 Findings from cross-connection inspections 
 Condition of backflow prevention devices 
 Any follow-up actions planned to prevent recurrence. 

 
  



 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page 26 

2. Corrective Actions 

o Immediate Actions: If backflow is confirmed, the utility will isolate the affected 
area, notify customers, and initiate system flushing and disinfection procedures. 

o Repair or Replacement: Backflow prevention devices that are malfunctioning or 
improperly installed will be repaired or replaced. Any identified cross-
connections will be corrected. 

o Customer Notification: Affected customers will be informed of the findings and 
the steps taken to restore safe water quality. 

 
3. Follow-Up Activities 

o Continued Monitoring: After the incident has been resolved, water quality in the 
affected area will continue to be monitored to ensure no further issues occur. 

o Regulatory Reporting: A formal report will be submitted to the State Water 
Resources Control Board or other relevant regulatory bodies detailing the 
incident and corrective measures taken. 

4. Recordkeeping and Review 

o Documentation Retention: All documentation, including the incident report, test 
results, and corrective action logs, will be stored in the utility’s records 
management system for future reference and auditing. 

o Incident Review: The utility will conduct an internal review to assess whether 
any changes are needed in cross-connection control measures or backflow 
prevention device maintenance practices.



 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxvii 

APPENDIX A - ASME A112.1.2-2012 (R2017)  

Table 1, Minimum Air Gaps for Generally used Plumbing Fixtures,1 page 4 
 

TABLE 1 
Minimum Air Gaps for Generally used Plumbing Fixtures4 

FIXTURES WHERE NOT AFFECTED BY 
SIDEWALLS1 (inches) 

WHERE AFFECTED BY 
SIDEWALLS2 (inches) 

Effective opening3 not 
greater than ½ of an inch in 
diameter 

1 11/2 

Effective openings3 not 
greater than ¾ of an inch in 
diameter 

11/2 21/4 

Effective openings3 not 
greater than 1 inch in 
diameter 

2 3 

Effective openings3 greater 
than 1 inch in diameter 

Two times the diameter of 
effective opening 

Three times the diameter 
of effective opening 

For SI units: 1 inch = 25.4 mm 

Notes: 
1    Sidewalls, ribs, or similar obstructions do not affect air gaps where spaced from the inside 
edge of the spout opening at a distance exceeding three times the diameter of the effective 
opening for a single wall, or at a distance exceeding four times the effective opening for two 
intersecting walls. 
2    Vertical walls, ribs, or similar obstructions extending from the water surface to or above 
the horizontal plane of the spout opening other than specified in Footnote 1 above.  The 
effect of three or more such vertical walls or ribs has not been determined.  In such cases, 
the air gap shall be measured from the top of the wall. 
3    The effective opening shall be the minimum cross-sectional area at the seat of the control 
valve or the supply pipe or tubing that feeds the device or outlet. Where two or more lines 
supply one outlet, the effective opening shall be the sum of the cross-sectional areas of the 
individual supply lines or the area of the single outlet, whichever is smaller. 
4    Air gaps less than 1 inch (25.4 mm) shall be approved as a permanent part of a listed 
assembly that has been tested under actual backflow conditions with vacuums of 0 to 25 
inches of mercury (85 kPa). 
 
 
 
 

1 Reprinted from ASME A112.1.2-2012(R2017), by permission of The American Society of Mechanical 
  Engineers. All rights reserved  



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxviii 

APPENDIX B - HIGH HAZARD CROSS-CONNECTION CONTROL PREMISES 
The list below identifies premises that require backflow protection provided by an air gap or a reduced 
pressure principle backflow prevention assembly, unless noted otherwise.  The list below is not intended 
to be all-inclusive. A PWS, State Water Board, or local health agency may require an AG, RP, or both to 
protect a PWS from other hazards not listed below and identified in premises through the hazard 
assessment completed in CCCPH section 3.1. A PWS may reduce or increase the minimum protection 
required for a previously hazard-assessed user premise following a hazard reassessment as described in 
CCCPH section 3.1. 

1. Sewage handling facilities 
2. Wastewater lift stations and pumping stations 
3. Wastewater treatment processes, handling, or pumping equipment that is interconnected to a piping 

system connected to a PWS (+) 
4. Petroleum processing or storage plants 
5. Radioactive material storage, processing plants or nuclear reactors 
6. Mortuaries 
7. Cemeteries 
8. Sites with an auxiliary water supply interconnected with PWS (+) 
9. Sites with an auxiliary water supply not interconnected with PWS 
10. Premises with more than one connection to the PWS (++++) 
11. Recycled water (++)(+++) 
12. Recycled water interconnected to piping system that contains water received from a PWS (+) 
13. Graywater systems, as defined in California Water Code Section 14876, that are interconnected to a 

piping system that is connected to a PWS 
14. Medical facilities 
15. Kidney dialysis facilities 
16. Dental office with water-connected equipment 
17. Veterinarian facilities 
18. Chemical plants 
19. Laboratories 
20. Biotech facilities 
21. Electronics manufacture 
22. Dry cleaner facilities 
23. Industrial or commercial laundry facilities 
24. Metal-plating facilities 
25. Business park with a single meter serving multiple businesses 
26. Marine-port facilities 
27. Car wash facilities 
28. Mobile home park, RV park, or campgrounds with RV hookups 
29. Hotels/motels 
30. Gas stations 
31. Fire stations 
32. Solid waste disposal facilities 
33. Pet groomers 
34. Agricultural premises 
35. Hazard assessment access denied or restricted 
36. Railroad maintenance facilities 



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxix 

37. Incarceration facilities (e.g.  prisons) 
38. Temporary connections to fire hydrants for miscellaneous uses, including construction 
39. Private water distribution mains 
40. Drinking water storage tank overflow connected to a sump or storm drain (+) 
41. Airports 

(+) Premise isolated by air gap only except as allowed through CCCPH Section 3.2.2 (c) 

(++) Dual-plumbed use areas established per CCR Title 22, Section 60313 through 60316 where recycled 
water is used for individually owned residential unit. 

(+++) Residences using recycled water for landscape irrigation as part of an approved dual plumbed use 
area established pursuant to CCR Title 22, sections 60313 through 60316 shall use a DC backflow 
prevention device. The recycled water supplier may obtain approval of the local public water supplier or 
the State Water Board, if the water supplier is also the supplier of the recycled water, to utilize an 
alternative backflow protection plan that includes an annual inspection of both the recycled water and 
potable water systems and an annual shutdown test of the recycled water and potable water systems 
pursuant to subsection 60316(a) in lieu of any backflow prevention assembly. 

(++++) All connections must receive at least the same level of protection (e.g. if one connection requires 
an RP then all connections must have RPs installed).  



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxx 

APPENDIX C - RELATED STATUTES AND REGULATIONS 
The following laws and regulations are considered related or tangential to the CCCPH and are included 
in a descriptive format to provide additional, relevant background information. 

California Laws and Regulations 

In addition to the California SDWA statutory requirements cited in CCCPH Chapter 1, section 1.3.1, 
California has statutes addressing certain authorities and requirements that may have influenced the 
CCCPH or may otherwise be of interest. 

• Urban and community water systems must have a written policy on discontinuation of residential 
service for nonpayment and must not discontinue residential service for nonpayment if certain 
conditions are met.  (CHSC sections 116900 – 116926) 

• Senate Bill 1263 (2017) requires that before a person submits an application for a permit for a 
proposed new public water system, the person shall first submit a preliminary technical report 
which must include a cost comparison of a new public water system and consolidations with an 
existing system.  (CHSC section 116527) 

• Effective June 24, 2015, Senate Bill 88 (SB 88) (Statutes 2015, Chapter 27) added sections 116680-
116684 to the CHSC, allowing the State Water Board to require certain water systems that 
consistently fail to provide safe drinking water to consolidate with, or receive an extension of 
service from, another public water system.  The consolidation can be physical or managerial. 

• Local health officers may maintain programs for the control of cross-connections by water users, 
within water users’ premises, where public exposure to backflow may occur.  Such programs may 
include water user premises inspections, collection of fees, certification of backflow prevention 
assembly testers, and other discretionary elements.  Backflow tester certification standards must 
be consistent with the standards prescribed in the CCCPH.  Water users are required to comply 
with all orders, instructions, regulations, and notices from the local health officer regarding 
installation, testing, and maintenance of a backflow prevention assembly. (CHSC sections 116800- 
116820) 

• Pursuant to the California Building Standards Law (CHSC sections 18901 – 18949.31), the 
California Building Standards Commission (CBSC) must administer the processes related to the 
adoption, approval, and publication of regulations referred to as the California Building Standards 
Code (Title 24, California Code of Regulation).  Title 24 serves as the basis for the minimum design 
and construction of buildings in California and includes the California Plumbing Code (Part 5 of 
Title 24), which contains requirements pertaining to cross-connection control and backflow 
prevention. 

• A backflow preventer intended to convey or dispense water for human consumption via drinking 
or cooking must meet California’s “lead free” requirements.  (CHSC section 116875) 

• Limits are established for the installation of backflow protection equipment where automatic fire 
sprinkler systems are utilized.  (CHSC section 13114.7) 

• Cross-connection control must be addressed in engineering reports that are required (CCR Title 
22, section 60323) for recycled water projects.  (Wat.  Code section 13552.8) 



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxxi 

• If a public agency requires the use of recycled water for toilet and urinal flushing in a structure 
(except certain mental health facilities), the public health agency must prepare an engineering 
report that addresses cross-connection control.  (Wat. Code section 13554) 

• Prior to indoor use of recycled water in a condominium project, the entity delivering the recycled 
water must submit a report, for State Water Board approval, and include the following related to 
cross-connection control (Wat. Code section 13553(d)(1)): 

o The condominium project must be provided with a backflow prevention assembly 
approved by the State Water Board. 

o The backflow prevention assembly must be inspected and tested annually by a certified 
tester. 

o The condominium project must be tested by the recycled water agency or local agency at 
least once every four years for indications of possible cross-connections between the 
condominium’s potable and non-potable systems. 

• California’s Department of Water Resources was required to convene a task force, known as the 
2002 Recycled Water Task Force, to identify constraints, impediments, and opportunities for the 
increased use of recycled water and report to the Legislature by July 1, 2003.  The task force was 
also asked to advise and make recommendations concerning cross-connection control, including 
the applicability of visual inspections instead of pressure tests for cross-connections between 
potable and non-potable water systems.  (Wat. Code section 13578(b)(1). The final report4 
provided the following recommendations to the State Water Board – Division of Drinking Water 
(Division): 

o Prepare guidance on dual plumbed regulations (22 CCR sections 60313-60316) consistent 
with Appendix J of plumbing code (Chapter 15 of 2019 California Plumbing Code, formerly 
Chapter 16A). 

o Support thorough assessment of risk associated with cross-connections between 
disinfection tertiary recycled water and potable water. 

o Ensure uniform interpretation of cross-connection control requirement of Title 22 
regulations (recycled water) and  CA-EPA-CCCPH Standards and Principles for California’s 
Public Water Systems as defined in California Health and Safety Code (CHSC section 
116275 (h)).  (cross-connection control regulations) 

o Recommend stakeholders to review draft  CA-EPA-CCCPH Standards and Principles for 
California’s Public Water Systems as defined in California Health and Safety Code (CHSC 
section 116275 (h)).  (regulations) 

• A person engaged in the salvage, purchase, or sale of scrap metal who knowingly possesses a 
backflow prevention assembly (or connections to the assembly or any part of the assembly), or 
who failed to report the possession of such items, which was previously owned by a utility or 
public agency, is guilty of a crime.  (Pen.  Code section 496e) 

• Junk dealers or recyclers who possess a backflow prevention assembly (or connections to that 
assembly or any part of the assembly) without a written certification from the agency or utility 
owning or previously owning the assembly will be liable to the agency or utility for the wrongful 
possession.  (Civ.  Code section 3336.5 and, similarly, Bus.  & Prof.  Code section 21609.1) 



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxxii 

Please note that a number of the codes, regulations, and statutes cited above are implemented 
under the authority of regulatory entities other than the State Water Board and would therefore be 
beyond the scope of this CCCPH.  The intent of providing such citations is to increase general 
awareness with respect to other potential statutory requirements associated with cross-connection 
control.  The list is not exhaustive and does not include other requirements that may exist, including 
those via regulations that may have been adopted by an appropriate regulatory entity. 

Federal Laws and Regulations 

All suppliers of domestic water to the public are subject to regulations adopted by the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) under the U.S. Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) of 1974, as 
amended (42 U.S.C.  section 300f et seq.), as well as by the State Board under the California SDWA 
(Health & Saf.  Code, div.  104, pt.  12, ch.  4, section 116270 et seq.).  Additionally, the State Water 
Board has been delegated primacy - the responsibility and authority to administer U.S.  EPA's drinking 
water regulations within California – on the condition that California adopt enforceable requirements 
no less stringent than U.S. EPA's. 

The U.S. EPA currently has no distinct cross-connection control requirements that apply broadly to 
public water systems (PWS); however, the importance of cross-connection control is evident by the 
issue papers and guidance documents developed by U.S. EPA and their recognition that cross-
connections and backflow represent a significant public health risk (see discussion in Chapter 2).  
Although U.S. EPA currently has no distinct cross-connection control requirements, the subject of 
cross-connection or backflow prevention assemblies is included in the U.S. SDWA and the Code of 
Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) in relation to PWS, including the following: 

• If used exclusively for non-potable services, a backflow prevention assembly is exempt from the 
federal lead prohibitions.  (42, U.S.C.  section 300g) 

• Allows increasing disinfectant concentrations in a PWS distribution system in the event of a cross-
connection (backflow) event.  (40 C.F.R.  section 141.130(d)) 

• Proper maintenance of the distribution system, including cross-connection control, is identified 
as a best available technology (BAT) for microbial contaminant control. (40 C.F.R.  section 
141.63(e)) 

• Under the federal Revised Total Coliform Rule, a PWS having a cross-connection control program 
is one of the enhancements necessary to reduce monitoring for a PWS that had been under an 
increased monitoring frequency.  (40 C.F.R.  section 141.854(h)(2)) 

• Under the federal Revised Total Coliform Rule, a PWS having a cross-connection control program 
is a criterion for a state to allow a reduced monitoring frequency (40 C.F.R.  section 141.855(d)(1)) 

• If a state allows the monitoring frequency reductions previously mentioned under the federal 
Revised Total Coliform Rule, a state is required to include in its primacy package to U.S. EPA how 
a PWS will be required to demonstrate cross-connection control.  (40 C.F.R.  section 142.16(q)) 

  



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxxiii 

APPENDIX D - SAMPLE BACKFLOW INCIDENT RESPONSE FORM 

BACKFLOW INCIDENT REPORT FORM 

         Reporting Agency: ___________________________________Report Date: _____________________________ 

Reported By:  ______________________________________Position: ________________________________ 

Mail Address:  ______________________________________City: ___________________________________ 

State:  _____________ Postal Code: ___________________ Telephone: ______________________________ 

Date of Incident: ____________________________________Time of Occurrence: _______________________ 

General Location (Street, etc.): ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
1. Backflow Originated From:  

 Name of Premise:   ______ 

 Street Address:  _____________________________________ District: _________________________ 

 Contact Person:  _____________________________ Telephone: ________________ ________ 

 Type of Business:  ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
2. Description of Contaminant(s):  
 (Attach Chemical Analysis if available) 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________  

 
3. Distribution of Contaminant(s):  

 Contained within customer’s property:   Yes: ___ No: ___ 
 Number of persons affected: _______ 
 
4. Effect of Contamination:  

 Illness reported: _________________________________________________________________  

 Physical irritation reported: ________________________________________________________  
______________________________________________________________________________  

 
5. Cross-Connection Source of Contaminant:  
 (boiler, chemical pump, irrigation system, etc.) 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________    

 
6. Cause of Backflow:  
 (main break, fire flow, etc.) 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________  

 
7. Corrective Measures Taken to Restore Water Quality:  
 (main flushing, disinfection, etc.) 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________  

8. Corrective Action Ordered to Eliminate or Protect from Cross Connection:  
 (type of backflow preventer, location, etc.) 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________  



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxxiv 

9. Previous Cross-Connection Survey of Premise:  
 
 Date:  _____________________________ By:  ________________________________ 
 
 
10. Type(s) of Backflow Preventer Isolating Property:  
 
 RP:     ___RPDA:   ___ DCVA: ___ DCDA: ___ PVB: ___ SVBA: ___ 

AVB: ___ Air Gap: ___ None:    ___ Other Type: __________________________ 

 
11. Date of Latest Test of Device:      _____________________________ 
 

12. Notification of Health Department:  

 Date: _______________ Time: __________ Person Notified: ___________________ 
 
 
 
Attach sheets containing any additional information, sketches, etc., to the back of this form. 

  



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxxv 

APPENDIX E - ORDINANCE 

Ordinance 40 

5.1  Cross-Connection Control (Backflow)  

The Customer shall be responsible for the prevention of cross-connections of the Customer’s system with 
sources of potential contamination.  

5.1.1  General Policy  

The regulations of the Department of Public Health of the State, contained in CA-EPA-CCCPH Standards 
and Principles for California’s Public Water Systems as defined in California Health and Safety Code 
(CHSC section 116275(h)). The California Cross-Connection Control Policy Handbook, the standards of 
the Uniform Plumbing Code, American Water Works Association Standard M14, and the University of 
Southern California Foundation for Cross-Connection Control and Hydraulic Research Manual of Cross-
Connection Control (10th 

 
ed. or later) are applicable for cross-connection control and backflow 

prevention in the District.  

5.1.2  District Regulations for Cross-Connection Control and Backflow Prevention  

No water service connection to any premises will be installed or maintained by the District unless the 
water supply is protected as required by State laws and these Rules and Regulations. Service of water 
to any premises shall be discontinued by the District if a backflow prevention assembly required by 
these Rules and Regulations is not installed, tested, and maintained, or if it is found that a backflow 
prevention assembly has been removed or bypassed, or if an unprotected cross-connection exists on 
the premises. Service will not be restored until such conditions or defects are corrected.  

The customer’s system should be readily accessible for inspection at all reasonable times to authorized 
representatives of the District to determine whether cross-connections or other structural or sanitary 
hazards, including violations of these Rules and Regulations, exist. When such a condition becomes 
known, the District shall deny or immediately discontinue service to the premises by providing for a 
physical break in the service line until the customer has corrected the condition(s) in conformance with 
the State laws relating to plumbing and water supplies and the regulations adopted pursuant thereto 
and these Rules and Regulations.  

All existing backflow prevention assemblies that do not meet the requirements in these Rules and 
Regulations but were approved devices for the purposes described in these Rules and Regulations this 
section, shall be excluded from the requirements of these Rules and Regulations so long as the District 
is assured that they will satisfactorily protect the utility system.  

Whenever the existing device is moved from the present location or requires more than minimum 
maintenance (e.g., no replacement parts required) or when the District finds that the maintenance 
constitutes a hazard to health, the unit shall be replaced by an approved backflow prevention assembly 
meeting the requirements of these Rules and Regulations. 

5.1.3  When Backflow Prevention is Required  

A backflow prevention is required under the following circumstances:  

1. In the case of premises having an auxiliary water supply which is not or may not be of safe 
bacteriological or chemical quality and which is not acceptable as an additional source by the 



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxxvi 

District, the public water system shall be protected against backflow from the premises (e.g., 
irrigation services).  

2. In the case of premises on which any industrial fluid or any other objectionable substance is 
handled in such a fashion as to create an actual or potential hazard to the public water system, 
the public system shall be protected against backflow from the premises. This shall include the 
handling of process waters and waters originating from the utility system which have been 
subject to deterioration in quality.  

3. In the case of premises having (1) a cross-connection that cannot be permanently corrected or 
controlled or (2) intricate plumbing and piping arrangements or where entry to all portions of 
the premises is not readily accessible for inspection purposes, making it impracticable or 
impossible to ascertain whether or not dangerous cross-connections exist, the public water 
system shall be protected against backflow from the premises.  

4. In the case of premises having industrial or commercial facilities, the public water system shall 
be protected against backflow from the premises.  

5.1.4  Acceptable Backflow Prevention Assemblies  

The District will not accept any backflow prevention assembly for cross-connection protection 
other than an approved air gap separation or a reduced pressure principle backflow prevention 
assembly unless otherwise approved by the District. An exception will be the installation of an 
approved double detector check valve assembly on fire lines for sprinklered buildings or on 
private fire hydrant lines.  

5.1.5  Reduced Pressure Principle Device (RP)  

Commonly referred to as an RP or RPP, this device consists of two independently acting check 
valves, together with an automatically operating pressure differential relief valve located between 
the two check valves. The first check valve reduces the supply pressure at a predetermined 
amount so that during normal flow, and at cessation of normal flow, the pressure between the 
two check valves shall be lower than the supply pressure. If either check valve leaks, the relief 
valve will discharge to the atmosphere. This will maintain the pressure in the zone between the 
two check valves lower than the supply pressure. The unit also has two shut-off valves (one 
upstream and one downstream of the checks) and properly located test cocks for field testing.  

5.1.6  Installation  

An approved RP assembly, the same size as the water meter, shall be installed on the customer 
water line as close as practical to the meter (not to exceed 10 feet unless otherwise approved by 
the District). Unprotected outlets shall not be installed between the meter and the RP device. This 
unit shall be installed a minimum of 18 inches and not more than 36 inches above finish grade 
with a minimum of 12 inches of side clearance. The unit shall not be installed in an enclosed 
structure.  

5.1.7  Approved RP Devices  

Any backflow prevention assembly required herein shall be a model approved by the District. The 
term “Approved Backflow Prevention Assembly” shall mean an assembly that has been 
manufactured in full conformance with the standards established by the American Water Works 
Association (AWWA) entitled AWWA C506-84 Standards for Reduced Pressure Principle and 



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxxvii 

Double Check Valve Backflow Prevention Devices and has met completely the laboratory and field 
performance specifications as set forth in Chapter 10, Specifications of Backflow Prevention 
Assemblies, of the Manual of Cross-Connection Control (10th ed. or later) of the University of 
Southern California Foundation for Cross-Connection Control and Hydraulic Research (FCCCHR). 
Final approval shall be evidenced by a “Certificate of Approval” issued by an approved testing 
laboratory certifying full compliance with the said AWWA standards and FCCCHR specifications. 
The following testing laboratory has been qualified by the District to test and certify backflow 
preventers: Foundation for Cross-Connection Control and Hydraulic Research University of 
Southern California University Park Los Angeles, California 90089-0231. Testing laboratories other 
than the laboratory listed above will be added to an approved list as they are qualified by the 
District. The list of approved RP assemblies is issued and maintained by the Ventura County 
Environmental Health Division. The District should be consulted for the currently approved list.  

5.1.8  Testing  

It shall be the duty of the customer at any premises where the backflow prevention assemblies 
are installed to have certified inspections and operational tests made at least once per year and 
completed test reports must be submitted to the District, or its designee. Where the District 
deems the potential hazard of backflow to be significant, certified inspections at more frequent 
intervals may be required. The inspections and tests shall be performed by a certified tester 
approved by the County of Ventura Resource Management Agency. It shall be the duty of the 
District, or its designee, to see that the tests are performed in a timely manner. The assemblies 
shall be repaired, overhauled, or replaced at the expense of the customer whenever said 
assemblies are found to be defective. Records of such tests, repairs and overhaul shall be kept by 
the customer and made available to the District upon request.  

5.1.9  Air Gap  

An air gap is a physical separation between the free-flowing discharge end of a potable pipeline 
and an open or non-pressure receiving vessel. To have an acceptable air gap, the end of the 
discharge pipe has to be at least twice the diameter of the pipe above the topmost rim of the 
receiving vessel, but in no case can this distance be less than one inch.  

5.1.10 Prohibitions of Cross-Connections  

No physical connection shall hereafter exist or be installed, located, maintained, or operated 
between the water supply system of the District (including its appurtenant mains, pipes, fixtures, 
equipment, or appliances), and any other supply system or any wastewater or grading system, or 
any steam, gas, or chemical line, pipe, or conduit, or any device, boiler, tank, or container whereby 
any contamination or pollution or any dangerous, impure, unsanitary, or unpotable substance 
(solid, liquid, or gaseous, or any combination thereof) may now or hereafter be introduced to any 
portion of the water supply system of the District by backflow, back siphonage, or any other 
method, means, or cause whatsoever. Wherever a mechanical or other method or device 
(approved by the District) may be used for protecting the District’s water supply system from any 
such source of contamination or pollution, any customer shall at the customer’s own expense and 
subject to the final inspection and approval thereof by a person certified for such inspection and 
repair by the County of Ventura, install, maintain, and operate the same. Maintenance shall 
include inspections and operational tests once a year, or more often as required by the Engineer 
and/or County of Ventura. The District shall promulgate and, upon request, furnish copies to a 



 
 
 

 
Camrosa Water District 
October 9, 2025  | hydrocorpinc.com  Page xxxviii 

customer a list of approved mechanical devices and information concerning the installation of 
said devices.  

5.1.11 Disconnection Due to Backflow Non-compliance  

The District shall have the right to discontinue the supply of water to the Premises of a customer 
for a customer’s failure to comply with, or the violation of, any of these Rules and Regulations 
relative to the inspection of a customer’s Premises to ensure the protection of the District’s water 
supply from cross-connections, backflow, or back-siphonage. A customer shall be entitled to 
reasonable (i) notice of the District’s intent to discontinue service due to a customer’s failure to 
comply with or violation of any of these Rules and Regulations, and (ii) opportunity to comply with 
and/or to cease any violation thereof. Such notices are subject to charges as identified in the 
District’s Schedule of Miscellaneous Fees and Charges.  

No such notice or opportunity to comply with, or cease violating these Rules and Regulations are 
required where a customer’s non-compliance or violation is creating or is likely to create water 
supply system conditions that are dangerous and detrimental to the public’s health, safety, and 
welfare.  

The District will only resume water services during normal business hours. All related charges 
must be paid prior to resuming water service.  

 



 

 

State Water Resources Control Board 
Division of Drinking Water 

 
October 22, 2025 
 
Norman Huff, General Manager 
Camrosa Water District 
7385 East Santa Rosa Road 
Camarillo, CA 93012 
normanh@camrosa.com 
  
RE: Approval of Cross-Connection Control Plan, Camrosa Water District 
(CA5610063) 
 
Dear Mr. Huff, 
 
Thank you for the submission of the Cross-Connection Control Plan (CCCP) for Camrosa 
Water District (CWD), submitted to the Division of Drinking Water (DDW) on October 9, 
2025.  CWD has demonstrated compliance with the CCCP requirements of the Cross-
Connection Control Policy Handbook (CCCPH), effective July 1, 2024.  DDW has 
approved this CCCP.   
 
Per the CCCPH, CWD is required to submit an updated CCCP to DDW at any time 
substantial revisions are made to the CCCP. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact our office at (805) 566-1326. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Jason Cunningham, P.E., District Engineer 
Santa Barbara District 
Division of Drinking Water 
State Water Resources Control Board 

mailto:rsmith@smmwc.com


 

Agenda Item #9 

 
 
 
 

    Board Memorandum 

 
February 10, 2026 
 
To:            Board of Directors 
 
From:        Jozi Zabarsky, Customer Service Manager 
 
Subject:    Update Ordinance 40 

Objective: Discuss updating provisions in Ordinance 40, Rules and Regulations Governing the Provision 
of Water and Sanitary Services. 

Action Required: No action is necessary; for information and discussion only. 

Discussion:  From time to time, staff identifies provisions in Ordinance 40 that need to be updated. The 
last update was adopted by the Board on June 6, 2024.  

California Assembly Bill 1572 requires all public water systems to revise policies and ordinances 
governing water service so as to prohibit the use of potable water for the irrigation of nonfunctional turf 
located on commercial, industrial, and institutional properties, and on properties of homeowners’ 
associations and other simitar entities. Ordinance 40 has been revised to meet this mandate.  

Additionally, the California State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB), Division of Drinking Water, 
implemented the Cross-Connection Control Policy Handbook (CCCPH), effective July 1, 2024. The policy 
requires all public water systems to prepare and submit a Cross-Connection Control Plan (CCCP) 
describing program authority, hazard assessment procedures, backflow prevention requirements, 
testing, recordkeeping, enforcement, and administration. Camrosa prepared its CCCP and submitted it 
to the SWRCB on October 9, 2025. It was approved by the SWRCB on October 22, 2025, and 
subsequently presented to the Board for adoption on February 10, 2026. Elements of the plan need to 
be incorporated into Ordinance 40. 

The other proposed changes are minor corrections or adjustments to administrative and billing 
functions.  

Attachment: 

 Proposed Ordinance 40 Draft changes and additions in redline 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ordinance 40-26 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rules and Regulations 
 
 

Governing the Provision of 
 
 

Water and Wastewater 
Services 

 
 

Adopted: 
 
 

March 10, 2026 



Camrosa Water District Ordinance 40: Rules and Regulations 

2 

 

 

 
 
 

ORDINANCE 40-26 
 

An Ordinance of the Camrosa Water District 

Repealing Ordinance 40-24 

And Establishing Rules and Regulations 

Governing the Provision of 

Water and Wastewater Services 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors of the Camrosa Water District do ordain as follows on pages 

3 through 42, attached: 

 

By Motion of Director  , Second by Director , 
this ordinance is 

 
 

ADOPTED, SIGNED, AND APPROVED this March 10, 2026. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Eugene F. West, President 
Board of Directors 
CAMROSA WATER DISTRICT 

 
 

 
ATTEST: 

 
 

Norman Huff, Secretary 
Board of Directors 
CAMROSA WATER DISTRICT 



Camrosa Water District Ordinance 40: Rules and Regulations 

3 

 

 

Table of Contents 
 

1. PURPOSE ......................................................................................................................... 8 

2. GENERAL ......................................................................................................................... 8 

3. DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................................... 8 

4. ELIGIBILITY FOR WATER SERVICE ............................................................................. 10 

4.1 General Requirements of Water Service ............................................................. 10 

4.1.1 Water Service Requirements for Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) ...................... 10 

4.1.1.1 Addition of ADUs ....................................................................................... 10 

4.1.1.1.1 Permitting ............................................................................................... 10 

4.1.1.1.2 Application for Service ........................................................................... 11 

4.1.1.1.3 District Evaluation .................................................................................. 11 

4.1.1.1.4 District Approval ..................................................................................... 11 

4.1.1.2 Capital Improvement Fees for Water Service to ADUs .............................. 11 

4.1.1.2.1 Shared Service ...................................................................................... 11 

4.1.1.2.2 Additional Meter Service ........................................................................ 11 

4.1.1.2.3 New, Independent Service ..................................................................... 11 

4.1.1.3 Billing and Water Service Charges for ADUs ............................................ 11 

4.1.1.3.1 Shared Service ...................................................................................... 11 

4.1.1.3.2 Additional Meter Service ........................................................................ 12 

4.1.1.3.3 New, Independent Service ..................................................................... 12 

4.2 Types and Classifications of Water Service ......................................................... 12 

4.2.1 Potable Water Service ....................................................................................... 12 

4.2.1.1 Municipal Water Service Classifications .................................................... 12 

4.2.1.1.1 Residential Water Service (Class I) ........................................................ 12 

4.2.1.1.2 Master Metered Residential Service (Class II) ........................................ 12 

4.2.1.1.3 Commercial and Industrial Water Service (Class III) ............................... 13 

4.2.1.1.4 Public Water Service (Class IV) .............................................................. 13 

4.2.1.1.5 Municipal Irrigation Service (Class V) ..................................................... 13 

4.2.1.1.6 Fire Service (Class VI) ............................................................................ 13 

4.2.1.1.7 Residential Irrigation Service (Class VII) ................................................. 13 

4.2.1.2 Agricultural Water Service Classifications ................................................. 14 

4.2.1.2.1 Agricultural Irrigation Water Service ....................................................... 14 

4.2.1.2.2 Domestic Agricultural Water Service ....................................................... 14 



Camrosa Water District Ordinance 40: Rules and Regulations 

4 

 

 

4.2.1.3 Temporary Service .................................................................................... 14 

4.2.1.3.1 Temporary Construction Water ............................................................... 14 

4.2.1.3.2 Temporary Municipal Water .................................................................... 14 

4.2.1.3.3 Temporary Agricultural Water ................................................................. 15 

4.2.1.4 Emergency Water Service ......................................................................... 15 

4.2.1.5 Surplus Water/Out of Bounds Service ....................................................... 15 

4.2.2 Non-Potable Water Service ............................................................................... 15 

4.2.2.1 Non-Potable Irrigation Water Description and Classification...................... 15 

4.2.2.1.1 Commercial Agricultural (Class I) ........................................................... 16 

4.2.2.1.2 Landscape Irrigation (Class II) ................................................................ 16 

4.2.2.1.3 Residential Landscaping (Class III) ......................................................... 16 

4.2.2.1.4 Temporary Construction Water (Class IV) .............................................. 16 

4.2.2.1.5 Blended Ag (Class V) ............................................................................. 16 

4.2.2.1.6 Commercial Agricultural (Class VI) ......................................................... 16 

4.2.2.2 Recycled Water Description and Classification .......................................... 17 

4.2.2.2.1 Commercial Agricultural (Class I) ........................................................... 17 

4.2.2.2.2 Landscape Irrigation Water (Class II) ...................................................... 17 

4.2.2.2.3 Commercial Agriculture (Contractual) (Class IV) ..................................... 17 

4.2.2.2.4 Surplus Recycled Water (Served outside District) ................................... 18 

5. CONDITIONS OF WATER SERVICE .............................................................................. 18 

5.1 Cross-Connection Control (Backflow) .................................................................. 18 

5.1.1 General Policy ................................................................................................... 18 

5.1.2 District Regulations for Cross-Connection Control and Backflow Prevention ..... 18 

5.1.3 When Backflow Prevention is Required ............................................................. 19 

5.1.4 Acceptable Backflow Prevention Assemblies ..................................................... 19 

5.1.5 Reduced Pressure Principle Device (RP) .......................................................... 19 

5.1.6 Installation ......................................................................................................... 19 

5.1.7 Approved RP Devices ....................................................................................... 20 

5.1.8 Testing .............................................................................................................. 20 

5.1.9 Air Gap .............................................................................................................. 20 

5.1.10 Prohibitions of Cross-Connections ..................................................................... 20 

5.1.11 Disconnection Due to Cross-Connection Non-compliance ................................. 21 

5.2 Water Pressure and Surges ................................................................................ 21 



Camrosa Water District Ordinance 40: Rules and Regulations 

5 

 

 

5.3 Water Leaks ........................................................................................................ 21 

5.4 Meters, Metering Facilities and Hydrants ............................................................ 21 

5.4.1 Meter Testing..................................................................................................... 21 

5.4.2 Obstruction of, or Deposit of Material in, on, or around Meter Boxes or Hydrants 22 

5.4.3 Change of Meter Location .................................................................................. 22 

5.5 Resale of Water ................................................................................................... 22 

5.6 Exporting Water ................................................................................................... 22 

5.7 Water Quality ...................................................................................................... 22 

5.7.1 Potable Water .................................................................................................... 22 

5.7.2 Non-Potable Water ............................................................................................ 22 

5.8 Interruptions in Service for System Maintenance ................................................. 23 

5.9 Automatic Fire Sprinkler Service Connections ..................................................... 23 

5.10 Access to District-Owned Facilities ...................................................................... 23 

5.11 Right of Inspection of and Access to Customer’s Premises.................................. 23 

5.12 Tampering with Metering Facilities ....................................................................... 23 

5.13 Theft of Water ..................................................................................................... 24 

5.14 Water-Use Prohibitions ....................................................................................... 24 

5.14.1 Nonfunctional Turf ............................................................................................. 25 

5.15 Mandatory use of Non-Potable Water Where Available ....................................... 26 

5.16 Water Shortage Contingency Plan Stages ........................................................... 26 

5.17 Stage One Water Supply Shortage or Water Emergency ..................................... 27 

5.18 Stage Two Water Supply Shortage or Water Emergency..................................... 27 

5.19 Stage Three Water Supply Shortage or Water Emergency .................................. 27 

5.20 Declaration of Emergency State .......................................................................... 28 

5.21 Violations of Prohibitions ..................................................................................... 28 

5.22 Appeals and Exceptions ...................................................................................... 29 

5.23 Reasonable Attorney Fees Paid by Customer ..................................................... 29 

6. WATER SERVICES RATES, FEES, AND CHARGES ..................................................... 29 

6.1 Application for Service ......................................................................................... 29 

6.1.1 Residential Service ............................................................................................ 29 

6.1.2 Commercial, Industrial, or Institutional Service .................................................. 30 

6.1.3 Agreement for Non-Potable Water Service ........................................................ 30 

6.2 Use of Water without Regular Application for Service .......................................... 30 

6.3 Deposit from Applicant ........................................................................................ 30 

6.4 Billing and Responsibility for Charges ................................................................. 31 



Camrosa Water District Ordinance 40: Rules and Regulations 

6 

 

 

6.5 Time and Manner of Payment.............................................................................. 32 

6.6 Delinquent Fees and Charges ............................................................................. 32 

6.7 Discontinuation of Non-Residential Service or Installation of Flow Restrictor for 
Nonpayment ........................................................................................................ 33 

6.8 Liens ................................................................................................................... 33 

6.9 Pressure Zone Surcharges .................................................................................. 33 

6.10 Policy on Discontinuation of Residential Domestic Water Service or Installation of 
Flow Restrictor for Nonpayment .......................................................................... 34 

6.10.1 Contact .............................................................................................................. 34 

6.10.2 Delinquency ....................................................................................................... 34 

6.10.3 Discontinuation of Water Service for Nonpayment ............................................. 34 

6.10.3.1 Written Notice to Customer ....................................................................... 34 

6.10.3.2 Written Notice to Occupants or Tenants .................................................... 34 

6.10.3.3 Notice by Telephone ................................................................................. 35 

6.10.3.4 Posting of Notice at Service Address (door hanger) .................................. 35 

6.10.3.5 Circumstances Under Which Service Will Not be Discontinued ................. 35 

6.10.3.6 Alternative Payment Arrangements ........................................................... 36 

6.10.3.7 Requests ................................................................................................... 36 

6.10.3.8 Alternative Payment Schedule ................................................................... 36 

6.10.3.9 Failure to Comply ...................................................................................... 36 

6.10.3.10 Final Notice ............................................................................................... 36 

6.10.3.11 Reductions/Waivers/Deferrals ................................................................... 36 

6.10.3.12 Limits ........................................................................................................ 37 

6.10.3.13 State of Emergency Exception .................................................................. 37 

6.10.3.14 Restoration of Service ............................................................................... 37 

6.10.4 Installation of Flow Restrictors ........................................................................... 37 

6.10.4.1 Notice ....................................................................................................... 37 

6.10.4.2 Removal.................................................................................................... 37 

6.10.5 Procedures to Contest or Appeal a Bill ............................................................... 37 

6.10.5.1 Initiation .................................................................................................... 37 

6.10.5.2 Review by District ...................................................................................... 37 

6.10.5.3 Appeal ...................................................................................................... 37 

6.10.6 Reconnection Fee Limits and Waiver of Interest for Low-Income Customers ..... 38 

6.10.7 Procedures for Occupants or Tenants to Become Customers ............................ 38 



Camrosa Water District Ordinance 40: Rules and Regulations 

7 

 

 

6.10.7.1 Applicability ............................................................................................... 38 

6.10.7.2 Agreement to District Terms and Conditions of Service ............................ 38 

6.10.7.3 Verification of Tenancy .............................................................................. 38 

6.10.8 Other Remedies ................................................................................................ 39 

6.10.9 Discontinuation of Water Service for Other Customer Violations ........................ 39 

7. WASTEWATER SERVICE GENERAL ............................................................................ 40 

7.1 Wastewater Service Area .................................................................................... 40 

7.2 Demarcation of Wastewater Service Responsibilities ........................................... 40 

7.2.1 Demarcation of District Facilities ........................................................................ 40 

7.2.2 Customer Responsibility .................................................................................... 40 

7.2.3 Liability for Property Damage ............................................................................. 40 

7.3 Water Reclamation Policy.................................................................................... 41 

7.4 Eligibility for Wastewater Service ......................................................................... 41 

7.4.1 Wastewater Service Requirements for Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) ............. 41 

7.4.1.1 Addition of ADUs ....................................................................................... 41 

7.4.1.1.1 Permitting ............................................................................................... 41 

7.4.1.1.2 Application for Service ........................................................................... 41 

7.4.1.1.3 District Approval ..................................................................................... 41 

7.4.1.2 Capital Improvement Fees for Wastewater Service to ADUs ..................... 41 

7.4.1.2.1 Shared Service ...................................................................................... 41 

7.4.1.2.2 New, Independent Service ..................................................................... 42 

7.4.1.3 Billing and Wastewater Service Charges for ADUs ................................... 42 

7.4.1.3.1 Shared Service ...................................................................................... 42 

7.4.1.3.2 New, Independent Service ..................................................................... 42 

7.5 Regulation of Wastewater Service ....................................................................... 42 

8. INCLUSION OF SPECIFICATIONS BY REFERENCE .................................................... 42 

9. IMPLEMENTATION AND PRIOR RULES AND REGULATIONS .................................... 42 

10. DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY PROVIDED TO THE GENERAL MANAGER ............... 43 



Camrosa Water District Ordinance 40: Rules and Regulations 

8 

 

 

Camrosa Water District Rules and Regulations  

Governing Water and Wastewater Services 

1. PURPOSE 

The purpose of this ordinance is to establish the terms and conditions of Camrosa’s Water 
and Wastewater Services. These terms and conditions are intended to both assure the individual 
Customer of fair and equitable service and protect the community Camrosa serves from the undue 
exposure to liability. Water, Wastewater, and Non-Potable Water Services shall be available only 
in accordance with the Rules and Regulations contained herein, and in conformance with 
applicable federal, state, and local statutes, ordinances, regulations, and contracts. 

2. GENERAL 

Water and Wastewater Services by Camrosa Water District are subject to the availability of 
facilities, adequate capacity of facilities, and compliance with the terms and conditions herein set 
forth, or as may be augmented and set forth in any agreement or permit issued by the District. 

3. DEFINITIONS 

“Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU)” is defined as a separate, self-contained residential unit located 
on the same property as a primary residence and has its own kitchen, bathroom, and sleeping 
area, and it may be attached to or detached from the primary residence. 

“Acre Foot” shall mean 43,560 cubic feet, which is equal to 435.6 Units or 325,851 gallons.  

“Camrosa” or “District” shall mean Camrosa Water District. 

“Customer” shall mean the applicant of record for water services rendered by District. 

“Certified Backflow Device” shall mean equipment with proper and current certification, designed 
to prevent the reverse flow of Customer’s system into District system. 

“Cross-Connection” shall mean any unprotected connection between any part of a water system 
used or intended to supply water for drinking purposes and any source or system containing water 
or substance that is not or cannot be approved as safe, wholesome, and potable for human 
consumption. 

“Functional Turf” shall mean a ground cover surface of turf located in a recreational use area or 
community space. Turf enclosed by fencing or other barriers to permanently preclude human 
access for recreation or assembly is not functional turf. 

“Guarantor” is the individual or entity that agrees to be responsible for the charges incurred 
by Customer. 

“Nonfunctional turf” shall mean any turf that is not functional turf, and includes turf located within 
street rights-of-way and parking lots. 

“Non-Potable Water” shall encompass Non-Potable Irrigation Water and Recycled Water, and 
mean groundwater, surface water, or recycled water that is intended for use for irrigation and other 
accepted uses for which potable water is not required. 

“Non-Potable Irrigation Water” shall mean surface water diverted from the Conejo Creek, untreated 
groundwater pumped for distribution in the Non-Potable Irrigation Water Distribution System, and 
any other water source that does not meet Potable Water quality requirements, is not certifiable 
as Recycled Water, and is distributed in the Non-Potable Irrigation Water Distribution System. 

“Non-Potable Irrigation Water Distribution System” shall mean the transmission and distribution 
piping and appurtenances that transport Non-Potable Irrigation Water. 



Camrosa Water District Ordinance 40: Rules and Regulations 

9 

 

 

“Potable Water” shall mean water that is intended for all general uses including human 
consumption, and, therefore, water that meets all primary drinking water standards set forth 
by the California Department of Drinking Water. 

“Potable Water Distribution System” shall mean the transmission and distribution piping and 
appurtenances that transport Potable Water from the various potable water sources to the 
Customer. 

“Pressure Zone” shall mean a hydraulic pressure subdivision within the Potable Water Distribution 
Sys tem and the  Non-Potable Irrigation Water Distribution System that is hydraulically isolated 
from other pressure zones, demonstrates unique hydraulic pressure characteristics, and has 
unique energy requirements for delivery. 

“Primary Service” refers to the main residential unit on a property currently connected to Camrosa’s 
water services, which may include a single-family home, the main dwelling of a multi-family 
property, or other residential structures. 

“Property” shall mean a parcel of land assigned a separate Assessor’s Parcel Number by the 
County of Ventura. 

“Recycled Water” shall mean treated Wastewater that meets State of California Title 22 standards 
at the discharge point of the Camrosa Water Reclamation Plant. Title 22 standards are established 
by the State of California and are not guaranteed beyond the plant’s point of discharge. 

“Recycled Water Distribution System” shall mean the transmission and distribution piping and 
appurtenances that transport effluent water from the Camrosa Water Reclamation Facility. 

“Surplus Water” shall mean for the purposes of this Ordinance, water in excess of the current water 
demands within the boundaries of the District as determined by Camrosa Water District. 

“Unit of Water” shall mean for the purposes of this Ordinance, one hundred cubic feet of water, 
which is equal to 748 gallons. 

“Water theft” shall mean an action to divert, tamper, or reconnect water utility services, as defined 
in Section 498 of the Penal Code.







































































 

Agenda Item #10 

 
 
 
 

    Board Memorandum 

 
February 10, 2026 
 
To: Board of Directors  
 
From: Norman Huff, General Manager 
 
Subject:  Master Plan Update, February 2026 

Objective: Provide the Board with a report/update from the Master Plan Ad hoc Committee on the 
Master Plan progress. 

Action Required: No action is necessary; for information and discussion only. 

Background: Woodard & Curran (W&C) was hired in 2022 to develop a Near-Term Capital Improvement 
Plan related to the District’s existing infrastructure, as well as perform a Water Resources Planning 
Analysis to identify potential water supply project options that can reduce the District’s reliance on 
imported water. A Technical Memorandum (TM) for the Near-Term Capital Improvements Plan was 
submitted on November 17, 2023. A TM for the Water Resources Planning Analysis was submitted on 
July 26, 2024. 

On August 22, 2024, the Board held a Master Plan Workshop to provide a forum for discussion of District 
priorities and strategies related to the proposed implementation of the recommendations made in the 
TMs. Staff presented their rationale for prioritization and implementation of CIP projects listed in the 
Near-Term Capital Improvements Plan and Water Resource Planning Analysis TMs. As the result of 
discussions involving the Board and Staff, projects recommended in the TMs were characterized into 
two categories 1) Water Supply, and 2) Existing Infrastructure Improvements. The Board and Staff 
reached a consensus on the projects that would be immediately pursued and those that would need 
additional analysis and/or preliminary design. The phased approach developed for the Water Supply 
projects was key to moving forward with the implementation of Phase I and II elements of the program. 
Consensus on the prioritization of Near-Term Capital Improvements has allowed Staff to move forward 
with the high-priority Existing Infrastructure Improvement projects.  

In early 2025, feedback from the Board indicated that in order to further the work of the Master Plan 
development with the associated projects and initiatives, a Master Plan Ad hoc Committee should be 
formed. Directors Foreman and Hoag comprise that committee. These meetings continue to further 
refine the District’s objectives and priorities for the Master Plan document as well as associated projects 
and initiatives. Staff met most recently with the Master Plan Ad hoc Committee on February 3rd. The 
next Master Plan Ad hoc Committee meeting is scheduled for March 3rd. 

Attachment:  

 Master Plan/CIP Committee – February 10, 2026, Report 

 









 

  Read File 

Read File 
The following material is provided to members of the Board for information only and is not formally a 
part of the published agenda. 

 
A. Cash Balances (Dec. 2025) 
B. 2026 Board Calendar 

 

 





 

     2026 Camrosa Board Calendar   

  Read File  


	2/10/26 Board Meeting Agenda
	AI #1 - 1/27 MINUTES
	AI #2 - VENDOR PAYMENTS
	ai #2 (attach): Expense Report

	AI #3 - PO FOR SR-Well 10 REHAB
	ai #3 (attach): Sam Hill invoice

	AI #4 - EMPLOYEE SPOTLIGHT
	AI #5 - 2nd QTR BUDGET REPORT
	ai #5 (attach): Status Report

	AI #6 - TRUCK FOR CWRF
	AI #7 - METER REPLACEMENT
	ai #7 (attach): DB Utility agreement

	AI #8 - CCCP ADOPTION
	ai #8 (attach1): Resolution 26-01
	ai #8 (attach2): CCCP
	ai #8 (attach3): Approval letter

	AI #9 - UPDATE ORD. 40
	ai #9 (attach): Draft Ord. 40 markup

	AI #10 - MP UPDATE 2/2026
	ai #10 (attach): Committee Report

	READ FILE
	A. Cash Balances (12/2025)
	B. Board Calendar


